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PREFACE.

( The life, flight, capture, trial and execution of Edward Alonzo
Pennington for the murder of Simon Davis was first published
in book form in 1846. It was next published in T Pra-
BROKE REviEw inserial form. The old books disappearing

and having many calls for the narrative in a condensed shape,

we concluded to issue this book. The crime and punishment

of Pennington was the first murder and legal hanging in
Christian county, )
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SHORT BIOGRAPHY OF E. A. PENNINGTON.

) For the materials, from which we have compiled the following
brief and rapid sketch of the life, morals, and acts of our hero. we are
indebted to the obliging kindness of M. Edward Dulin.—This gentle-
iman was wellacquainted with Pennington. They were reared in the
faine county and neighborhood, were school mates, room mates, and
fplay mates, and consequently Mr. Dulin’s opportunity to know and
junderstand the character and disposition ot the subject of our pen, was
uch as eatitles his narration to our respectful consideration ; while his
Standing in the community, of which he is a member, 1s a guarantee for
our faith.

It is not our design to record a minute and ¢‘recumstantial history*of
’ennington, this would indeed prove a herculean task, and tax too
$everely the patience of our readers. We propose merely to record a
few prominent facts, by the aid of which a justand correct idea may be
formed of the true character of the man. (For this purpose a few well
gstablished and ‘ndisputable facts will serve as effectually as a regular
bnd connected history of all the varied and checkered events, which go
fo make up thesum aad substance of an individual’s character. *“Words
Bre leaves; deedsare fruit.””/ A concise relation of this kind as plainly
indicates the bent and inclination of the mind, and as satisfactorily
Bstublishes ll::*-—gc:_li;_[;t! ‘character of a man, as a more detailed account of
bis whole course of life, for the latter but develops the same general
Principles and features modified by the varied circumstances that give
birth to his different and multiplied actions. ( As this is all aimed at in
ghe following remarks, we shall “nothing extenuate, nor set down aught
in malice.”” )

( There always exists in the public mind a desire, which is both rea-
fonable and proper, to know something of the previous and early history
Of an individual whose acts have rendered him notorious, whether such
Botoriety be the result of his good or evil deeds. When convicted ot

me heinous offense, as in the present instance, the probability of his
guilt or innocence will be enhanced or diminished, aecording as his
Burly associations, habits, and education point to this or that conclusien. )
if from his previous history we learn that, at a very early and impress-
‘e period of life, he was exposed to the influence of associations, which
gre calculated to sear the tender conscience, demoralize man’s nature,
forrupt the affections, familiarize with guilt, and herden the heart for
lhe commission of crime; our faith in his innocence, when circum-
tances have connected him with the perpetration of an outrageous
Pficnse, will be proportionably weak and doubtfui. One whose youth
s been passed in the midst of wickedness and crime, whose evil pro-
pensities have been strengthened by indulgence, and whose companions
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are graduates in vice, is pretty sure to become an educated, and accoflito pI
plished villaing and will be prepared for tie execution of any purpdlof hi
a vile, malicious, and avaricious heart may suggest. Such a natur
when united to a strong, vigorous, and active intellect, as in the cafshou
of Pennington, renders its possessor capable of conceiving and exec@prav
ting well connected and extensive plans of villainy. Unsusceptible @by a
any noble or generous emotions, such a man is =lL1EﬂIf’:lh1\" fitted to b@uite:
come a master spirit among the depravzd, to shape the actions of othefwere
so as to obey his will and purposes, and usually accomplishes his en@his ¢
by the most crafty and inscrutable means. Thus he goes on from ofHe
degree of wickedness to anocher, daily and hourly improving in tifape
knowledge of guilt and crime. Long impunity renders him bold, aillown
repeated escapes :rnp]r him with -:ronllduu,c, until, having filled up (@ pt
measure of his iniquities, some insufliciently guarded act pl.u. es him @qeen
the power of that even handed justice, whose high commands he hfhim:
hitherto contemned, and so flagrantly, so repeatedly violuted. piec
But that we may not lengthen out this work to an inconvenient anffeei
unnecessary size, we proceed without further introduction to the sufwou
ject matter. Rtion
( EpwarDp ALoNzo PENNINGTON, the person of whom we spealof yi
was born in Christian county, in the State of Kentucky, some time i®man
18r1. Christian county is situated in the Green River countr v, i sedlaite
tion rich in resources and minerals. It is the oreat 1Immu;_{.1l.n'u folfinve
Western emigrants, and possesses great conveniences for watér commi@@in b
nication in all possible directions. At the period of Alonzo’s birth hiffwhe
father resided on the farm,K now the property and residence of ovne Mfgen
McFaddin, a lady of w imm mention is made on the trial. This farm in;_{
situated about seventeen miles northeast from Haopkinsville, in a rougiffof d
broken country, the successful cultivution of which is greatly impaircfin y

by the frequent sinks common to this portion of the State.) ton

v 0Old man Pennington was a Justice of the Peace, then Sheriff, anfand
subsequently offered himself as a candidate to represent the county iffur
the Legislature. v~ o

( For the education of his children, he engaged the services of §he
private teacher, which situation was at one time filled by a Mr, Mdhis
Faddin, and at another by Mr. Thomas V. \{munv While the latreffor!
gu]tlenmn resided at old man Pennington’s, he unavoidably witnesse@and
many things calculated to awaken suspicions that all was not ntrhi oflf cein
as it should be. Persons, with whom he had no acquaintance, ¢r onlguna
knew by name, frequently came after nighttall, bringing with then
horses, and both men and horses disappeared again before day. Whencfvar
they came or whither they went, Mr. Morrow could not satisfuctorilfnan
ascertain. These mysterious transactions determined him to leave th@ithe
family, which he accordingly did, and he even went so faras to get uf@(A
a petition setting forth reasons why the office of Sheriff should be defson
nied old man Peunnington, but his efforts were not begun soon enough ho
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| accofito prove successful, farther than to gain him the everlasting displeasure
purpolof his quendam employer. )

natur Under such circumstances, it is not at ail surprising that Alonzo
the cufshould, at a very early and tender period, give intimations of a de-
| execy prn\'ctl mind and heart ; consequently we find his youth distinguished
tible @by a propensity for low tricks, base deceits, debasing frauds, and an
| to uiter contemptand disregard for truth and hurwsi}',' His companions
>f otheflwere to be found in that class of boys whose dispositions accorded with
1is  enf@his own, while he sedulously avoided those of nobler aims and purposes.
rom ofgie was frequently detected in petty thelts, and big lies, and his cour-
- in tiflaoe was of that cautious and prudent nature, which seldom exposes its
old, arlowner to much physical suffering. While boarding at Mr. Dulin’s, as
d up (@a pupil of one Mr. Evans, in more advanced youth; he would employ

- -~ Ll L] - . - - L"
him @ageuts to affzct his wicked and malicious ends, not daring to appear
he h@himself in the matter. Onone occasion he insticated a lad to cut in

1 * - . . - h - {
pieces u coat helonging tc a son of Mr. Dulin, in order to gratify his

ient arnffeeling of revenge and jealousy. Injuries of this class and character he
the sufwould unblushingly perpetrate, and seemed to derive peculiar gratifica-
ftion in slandering und defaming spotless reputations, especially those
e speaflof young ladies who manifested a repugnance te his society. He also
time i@munifested, at this early period, that spirit of covetousness which, in
. o sedafter life. urged him on to the commission of the most daring acts, to
fare {Winvest himself with possessionsnaught but crime could ucquire. Even
comm@®in his school boy’s days, those hours that are usually so free from guile,
birth h when the young heart is fuil of hope and brotherly affection, and the
»ne Mrflgenerous feelings are in healthy exercise, this individual was cherish-
s farm @ing the worst pussions of tallen nature, and educating them for deeds
a rouci@of darkness and horror. Ilis increase in crime kept pate with his growth
mpairefin years; aye, it may be said to have outstripped his years, for Penming-
ton was one of those precocious geniuses, whose development is rapid
¢iff. anBand wonderful.  When about eighteen or twenty vears old, Alonzo
unty iffurnisheld a pretty sure indication ot that policy which governed his
after lite, and gave a fair display of that tact and ingeauity for which
es of @he was so deservedly renowned, and which on many occasions came to
Vir. McBhis aid. and was his only succor in dangerous and difficult situations;
e latief@for (it was a remarkable characteristic of the man toaccomplish his ends
itnessefand purposes by means and agencies others would scarcely have con- ~
ight, offceived, and to escape from perils which to most others seemed
ar onlffunavoidable. ) :
th then The case is as follows, and constitutes one of the first in (a long and
W hencf varied series of dishopest and artful exploits,) An Irishman, by the
factorilfname of McGuffin, owened a very fine stalion. He selected as stands
ave thathe house of F. P. Pennington, (Alonzo’s father,) Col. S. D. B. Stewart
y get uf(Alonzo’s brother-in-law) and that of M. H. Allen, or, according to
be defsome, one Mr. Clarke? It was the earnest desire of Alonzo to get this
enougt horse into his own possession, which by various means he endeavored

ek 1 il . .p-ag'o“':l-f—. (X2
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" Alonzo remarked he had nothing of equal value to stake against th

'Isle. Was 1t the result of unmeaning chance?

t.

to effect, but hitherto without success. Toaccomplish his purpose
associated with himself one Vance, and they two, others are suspecte
matured a scheme of very cunning design and delicate execution. ()
Sabbath evening, this man Vance and Alonzo Pennington came to )

lonz
rroes |
ired 0

vas a

Clarke’s and enquired for McGaffin. Alonzo had a bandage about | S
face, and complained of tooth-ache. He prevailed on this Irishman vhere
accompany him to Col. Stewart’s on business as he-said. Short ly afi@is d
they arirved, Pennington feigned to be taken worse, whereupon an uffsain:
plication of hot salt was recommended. Accordingly two small buiflheing
were prepared, one of which was filled with salt, the other with ash WOl
That which contained the salt was first applied, and while McGuf C
was looking on, the bag filled with ashes was in the mean time plac@llof a N
on the hearth near the fire, for the purpose of keeping it warm, / bf Sq
exchange of bags was affected in the presence of McGuffin, withoflsudde

however, his knowledge of the fact. Pennington complained that tff.f Pe
ashes were hot. McGuflin corrected him, and remarked that it w marri
salt, not ashes, upon which Alonzo offered to bet the bag did in realifence.
eontain ashes. Not aware of the exchange of bags, both of wiiich M$An o
Guffin supposed were filled with salt, he proffiered to bet his hors@Vanc
matte
animal. Vance then put up a certain sum of money, and Stewart tes childs
dered on the part of Pennington, a negro woman with one or two matic
her children. The stakes being now arranged, the bag was emptieffear t
and found to contain ashes., Poor McGuffin, the dupe of this precoffinter
certed fraud, was much mortified at his loss; but before he had time (@ the p
think on the subject, one Hoskins was hastily sent off to take the hordtions
to Russellville, out of McGuflin’s reach. In a day or two after thffof Pe
occurrence, seeing the distress of the poor Irishman, and provoked {8 Thes

the combined fraud practiced upon him, David Myers proposed goinf enbu
with McGuffin, to recover the possession of his horse. Their missios
proved successful, the horse was regained, but fearing some injuryfand

McGuffin settled up his business and departed the country ; since whicl aidec
time he has never been heard of, nor from. tors,

It 1s somewhat a singular coincidence that one of the very first ani apaiy
last acts of fraud and violence, perpetrated by this man, Pennington|

I who!
should have selected for their respective victims a son of the Emerald

COns
ing t
| Alonzo Pennington was frequently concerned in stealing negroesf to H
or kidnapping, one or two instances of which, out of many, we wil perh
record. | of h

(A man by the name of Brown lost some negroes, and suspected® were
Pennington of being concerned in their abduction, as he had now be Soul
come an object of pretiy general distrust and suspiciun.2 While makingl® be a
inquiry into the matter, he was informed, by one Sisk, that the negroes lar ¢
were at Pennington’s, and Sisk proposed to go with him to regainf® men
them, They accordingly went in company, and ofi their arrival atff and




pose A lonzo’s fence, Sisk made a peculiar whistle, at which signal the ne. +*
spectdileroes came, but seeing their master, Mr. Brown, turned and fled. Sisk
1. (fred off the gun which he held in his hand, which Brown Sﬂaposcd
s to MBvas a signal for his own destruction, and thereupon he fled.
bout | Some short time after this Brown was shot ata neighbor’s house,
hman fhyhere he was spending the evening, being struck with several balls.
tly afi@is death was very opportune for Pennington, as he had brought suit
an ifihoainst him for the negroes, and was the only witness to swear to their
Ul baflbeing at Alonzo’s house. By what or whose agency his death was
h ashfwrought is a matter of suspicion only.
[cGuff One instance more we will notice. There belonged to the estate
placflof a Mr. Groves several negroes. who were under the care and direction
m., Aof Squire Jones, guardian of the heirs. W hile hired out these servants
vithoflcyddenly disappeared. Vance, who formerly lived in the neighborhood
that tillof Pennington, and who was one of his intimate companions, had
it wlliharried and settled near Nashville, Tennessee. Owing to some differ-
realiffance. this man, Vance, and a near neighbor were at outs, as it is termed.
ch M@An old negro woman, who conceived herself to be harshly treated by
hors@V unce. or the family in which she was staying disclosed the whole
nst thiflatter to his neighbor, confiding to him her own name and that of ker
art tes@children. "This i“di\-iduul wrote to !‘f"'qllil': _]Ullc,:-i. impurtiug the infor-
two df@mation he received frem the negro, but did not subscribe his name, for
mptieffear that he would be visited with some injury should the letter be
precos intercepted, or his agency discovered. :]‘hc letter, }n}\\:cvel:, fell into V.
time i@ the proper hands. Squire Jones acted in accoedance with 1ts sugges-
e hor@tions. and regained the property. The matter was hushed up by means
ter thil,f Pennington’s friends, so that he was not prosecuted for the offense.
ked @ These occurrences took place during Pennington’s residence in Mhul-
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& |

| goin@ enburg county. & : : =
IM1ssiol On acccunt of the frequent losses In property of this description,

injury®and other dupred:itions committed on them, the citizens of that county,

> whici sided by those of the circumjacent ones, formed a company of R\.{:gula-
tore, the object of which was to apprchend and bring to justice offenders

rst anff against the laws, and drive off such as were known to be rascals, but
ington® whose craftiness and cunning enabled them to escape detection, and
meraliff consequent punishment. Through fear of their operations, and know-
ing that he was an ebject of distrust _un;l suspicion, Pennington moved

egroes@ to Hopkius county, and established ln_mself-thcre for a year or two,
‘e willl perhaps several years. During all this period there existed a company
of horse thieves and counterfeiters, whose operations and association

spected® weré believed to extend throughout (the whole of the Western and
yw bef® Southwestern States, among whom Alonzo Pennington was thought to
naking be a leading man.y His rapid growth in property, without uny particu-
1egroesf lar or special occupation, and his known intimacy with. the spspccted
regail® members of this audacious gang, all of whom were familiar at his board,

val afff and who used his house as a stopping place, gave strength to the sus-

e
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picion. But we must pass on to other matters and things.

The next circumstance in the history of our hero, which we will
mention, is the ““Box ArFrFaIr,”’ as it is called. This was an ingenious
fraud, and, oné in which Alonzo was deeply implicated. Doubt-
less he was the originator and inventor of the deceit. It was a scheme
which addressed itself to the cupidity of individuals under the insidi-
ous veil of speculation, and was so planned as to render the purchaser
impliuatcd to u certain extent, and in a certain manner. The danger
and certainty of exposure was thus urtlull_y avoided and averted.

Boxes of different sizes and capacities were provided, and filled
with some weighty substance, which the vendor represented to contuin
gentine silver coin. The amount was branded or marked on the out-
side of each box. This coin was said to have been moulded from an ore
obtained near the Rocking Cave, a place whose location we have not
been able to ascertain, and is supposed only to exist in the fancy. A
company was formed for the purpose of working this mine, and had
proceded at much toil and e\penditure of means to coin the metal into
money, betore they ascertained that it was an unlawful act. To save
themselves the ourI:u as far as practicable, they offered to sell the coin
at one half its real '.'1lue This they were compelled to do secretly,
and enjoin the same caution on the purchaser. By such representations
many credulous persons, stimulated and pricked on by a thirst for gain,
became purchasers. To render the deception more perfect, good and
—genuine coin was taken from a similar box and exhibited as a sample.
This device put to flight all doubts. A brother-in-law of Pennington
became the purchaser of two boxes. In the first instance he was taken
by one Richard Bunch to a private and secret place in a body of woods,
There, near an old tree, and covered with leaves, he was shown a box,
with the impoding mark of six hundred dollars, which was offered to
him for three hundred dollars They then withdrew, and he paid the
required sum of three hundred dollars, On returning to take possession
of his purchase, the spot was found, but the box waus gone, nor did he
ever see the box or the vendor after that. He told the circumstance to
Pennington, and remarked that he was determined to buy a second
declaring that he would not be defrauded again, but would have the
box at all hazzards. Alonzo informed him where he could purchase
another, and accompanied his brother-in-law to some point on the Ohio,
where he introduced him to an individual who had them for sale.

As at first, he was conducted to a private place in the woods, the
box was exhibited, also some good coin of the same denomination, and
he became a second time a purchaser. He grasped his property, mount-
ed his horse, and after a hasty ride of a few miles, dismounted to ex-
amine his treasure. His mortification was es.trune, when, breaking

YV open the box, it revealed a few pieces of counterfeit money, an old ax,

L+

r

4 worn out grubbing hoe, and sand.
Pennington and several others played off a similartrick on a young
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man; & citizen.of Hopkinsville. ¥
Such was the celebrated **box affair,”’ about' which 'so much has
been said, and which made a considerable noise for the time in that

will
11ous : : : =
subt. section of the country of which we now speak. But: this was only one
of the:many irons Pennington was heating and working off atione and

1eme 2

sidi. [ the same tume.

SaBEY Such frequent and daring impositions, and the breaking open  of a
nger [store 10 Greenyille, excited the citizens of a portion of Hopkins and

e T A

IMbulenburg, wha again formed a company of Regulators, to search out
1 i

Glled and apl.ﬁurchund the scoundrels who practiced these wil ainies. Seeing

\tuin Bthat Pennington and his associates escaped punishment when brought i
out. Bto trial; by their secrecy and the facility with which evidence in their {
) ore Bfavor was procured, this company arrested Alonzo, admimstered some :

not B wholesome advice, and ordered him to leave the county within a speci- i

s Bfied time. This order being unheeded, he wasa second time arrested,
haq Band would have been hung, but for the interposition of some influential
persons. [ He wisely concluded 1o act upon this latter hint, as delay

r

:I:,.: now seemed dangerous, and accordingly moved over to Christian coun-
coin BYY- Here he located himself near the sinks of Little River, which, on
etly. faccount of its rough borken features, appeared well adapted to his habits
rions B2nd purposes of life :
rain, §. 'ifr]or to this move of Penmngton, the Regulators arrested seyeral
and individuals, among whom were three by the names of Miller, Gatlin and
nple. Gaines, supposed to have been engaged in the breaking open and robs
oton BPery of the store before mentioned. These men made separate contes-
aken Geions, apart from each other, which were remarkable for their exact
>ods. l:'lll‘l‘l..'fi[.'!{:li'ul.l(_‘.l‘lt‘l!. [From these confessions it seems that Pennington was
box, lmphc:znmi in the tillTL‘]-'l_"l'IT.])l;lll:Q that were formed to enter and rob the
i to W Branch Bank at ll:)pklm‘-wllt:.V

the . Four separate and distinct schemes were adopted, and their execu-
sion RUOD attempted, all of which were fortunately frustrated. The first

d he BPlan, to break through the wall and enter the vault from below, was v/

e to Bthe slfggt:&l‘iun of our hero. .'I‘u examine the premises and ascertain the

Sond pfucncubrilty.nl this plan, siilE:&b!u and competent persons were em-
the [ Ployed. Their report was unfavorable to this method of prcceeding.

The next proposal was to kill the clerk, and force the door of the -

::;:1:;' vault, Tl:_v: conspirators accerdingly ad ranced to the town, halted, and
sent two of their number to execute the plan.. According to their re-
the port, the clerk had retired and was SO s_ound ;mI‘Qcp their knock was un-

i heeded, and thuvs the second attempt failed. We ha:m heard, however,
ey thul‘lwo Suspscious persons did knock and were admitted by the clerk

Cex- B° his room in the rear of ‘thc vault, but as a friend was present, and the

king bank well 511['>pi1cd _WILh fire-arms, after one or two unimportant inqui-

Foy ries, they retired without offering any violence. = IR -

: The third effort was to be made. ~ This plan was to muster their en- ¥
oung tire strength, to the number of one hundred, surround at the dead of

o g 6 i Ay b
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tions f
night, the house of the cashier, get possession of the keys, keep him REWith
= under a strong guard, and thus affect their object. The prosecution of REfound
this scheme was for some reason or other abandoned. doubt
' v Not content with these signal failures, this daring project of rob- Rand al

bing the bank was persisted in.  They now resolved boldly to attempt Rto aro
the walls. For this purpose the company again advanced, and halted Enature
in the rear of Glass’ Stemmery. Their instruments were all prepared, Revent
. and Pennington was set to dig a vault for the temporary deposit and Rthe m

| concealment of the money. This he went about with a right gocd will, E
' as he thereby avoided the pl.ll"-«on‘tl danger to which those who -houkd now
make the attempt to break in the walls would be necessarily exposed. [frienc
The reason assigned for this last failure is, that persons were pass- she p
ing to and fro, and seemed to be on the watch. Thus were they foiled disag
in all their efforts to execute the projected robbery. Otherefforts would to sel
doubtless have been made but for the arrest and confessions of these men, appri
‘The truth of these confessions is fully established by the examina- (
tion made afterwards, { The instruments were found concealed in the peate
neighborhood of the Stemmery, and there too was the begun vault, de- movi
signed for the reception of the money. While in jail, Pennington con- ‘_‘.li"’_l
tessed that his portion was to be. in cuse of success, ten thousand dollars.) B north
From the foregoing, selected at random umn among the many and held
varied acts of his life, a pretty fare idea may be formed of the true ufter
character of Edward Alonzo Pennington. lliu tact, ingenuity, and end ¢
utter disregard for truth and honesty, cannot fail to arrest the attention Dayi
of the reader, at the same time that he is prepared to believe this man and 1
capable of any crime the accomplishment of his ends .might suggest.) in @
ﬂnd though his cow: ardice was such that he would scarcely undertake, indus
single handed and alone, to shed the blood of his fellow mun, yet IIL for b
would always have 'trmmd him, and obedient to his will, those who
dare, for pay or favor, do sucha thing. His manners were (artful and ning
insinuating, and he could assume at will a gentle, kind and affection- ingl)
ate bearing, well calculated to deceive the unsuspicious and contiding Me,
man.) In fine, he possessed all the qualities and qualifications of a lead- far g
ing spirit among the depraved, whom he could well guide and govern the
by his counsels and judgment, and needed only a fearless spirit to have Prin
fitted him to lead in deeds oi bold and reckless daring. ("With sufficient SO
personal courage he would have made a bold and able brigand chief, wal
compared even with the far famed robbers of the Alps, or the rougher men
bands that once infested the mountains of Scotland. to b
Somewhere about the year Ib_jb or 1839, an Iruhnmn by the name BEAT
of Simon Davis, married and settled in ~the I‘I()I'ihL..’ntClIl portion of Wh
Christian county, near the Sinks, as they are called, of Little River. con!
V' Six or seven years after this Pennington, driven off, us before related, The

from Hopkins by the Regulators, located himself in the same neigh-
184 5 borhood, about a mile and ‘a half from the residence of Davis. By his
marriage Davis came into the possession of property to the amount of
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eight hundred ‘or a thousand dollars, but saving and except the connec-  ,
tions formed by his marriage, had no friends or relations in this country. =
im [EWith this man Pennington cultivated a familiar acquaintance, and soon
of Bfound means to ingratiate himself in the favor and friendship of Dayis;
doubtless he advised with him as to the managément of his little fann
ob- Pand affairs, and bestowed on him trivial favors, such as were calculated
1pt  Pto arouse and kindle up ‘the grateful feelings of a warm and generous
ted Pnature, characteristic of the sons and daughters of old Ireland.) At all

ed, Pevents they became very intimate, and Dayis seemed to love to be with
nd the man who afterwards wrought out his destruction and death.
ill, Early in the spring of 1845, the wife of Davis died. His ties were
uld now severed, and he soon became involved in some unpleasant and un-
ed. friendly altercations with his wife’'s relation, about the little property
|58~ she posscs.sccl. This rendered his longer resideace in the neighborhood
ed disagreeable. He grew daily more dissatisfied, and determined at last
11d to sell out und leave the country. Of all which Pennington was  duly
en. apprised. :
- Up to the gth of May, following, and on that day, Davis made re-
the peated efforts to dispose of his effects, with the avowed purpose of
de- moving to the State oi Illinois. ('thi_l;}j:l_l_}]_f May wes the day for _Bat-
- rulion Muster at Pleasunt Hill, the name of a meeting house in the
rs.) northeastern part of Christian countyY Davis wis seen to be there and
nd held conversation on the ground with different persons. Late in the E
ue Wflernoon be was scen in compuny with Pennington and several others, =
nd . nd one individual testifies he saw them leave together. At all events, =
on Davis was never seen after that day, until his dead body was found i =
an and recognized as will hereatier appear, His_horse, however, was seen e -
st.) in 2 body of thick prush, near one shuffle’s house. This circumstance’ B=
ke, induced thesuspicion that he had been murdered, and an effectual search
he for his body was forthwith instituted.
ho I'he neighbors and friends ol Davis now determined to arrest Pen-
nd nington and 4 man by the name of Cisney. A company was accord-
11~ ingly formed for this purpose, and hearing that Cisney had dined at
ng Mr. Williams' on that day, sturted off in pursuit. They followed on as
ad- tar as Hopkinsville, at which place they paired off, the better to scour
I the different roads. - ‘T'wo lads took the turnpike from Hopkinsville to
ve Princeton. This was the route Cisney took. At the widow Whyte's,
nt come six or seven miles from the former town, they discovered their man
ef, walking the yard, and alighted, as if to get breakfast./”In a few mo-
1er ments they had him apprehended and confined, and retraced their way
l.u[lnpkius.vi!!e.) Being taken to the office of a magistrate he was
me searched as if for counterfeit money, and a book, the property of Mis.
of W hyte, was found upon him. From thence he was e’s\cort’c’d by the
er. company to Pond River, and fortwo days kept under a strong guard.
d, ‘Though often and closely interrogated he made no confession.
rh- About this period the citizens of{[—i'upl{iné;, Mhulenburg: and Christ
1is : :
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ian, having lost many horses and suffered in other respects from the @ Dr,
depredations of a band of villians that harrassed the whole country far fformati
and near, called a meeting at Antioch, for the purpose of mutual aid Bhdanx
and protection.” At this meeting, which was well attended, a _Safety Bcure b
Society was organized for the purposes above stated, and numbered the if Penn
greater portion of our miost respectable, intelligent and orderly citizens, The
One dollar was the charge for membership, This contribution raised a | our h
fund which was to be expended in employing persons to pursue after Bhat led
and capture stolen property, and the thieves alio, 1if possible. It was fhe evid
not, as some have unadvisedly represented, formed in violation .of law, Enough
for the purposes of punishing suspected and guilty persons, but to aid and position
co-operate with the law, by arresting and delivering over to the constitu- Bromise
ted powers, such offenders as would have escaped altogether. The good §
results of the association are witnessed in the security of property that,

from its nature, must be more or less exposed to such depredations,

To this meeting Cisney was brought, and closcly guarded, to pre-

vent escape. When the meeting adjourned, he was tiken back by the

same persons who brought him with them. As they returned home to

Pond River, the company alighted to rest awhile under the shade of &
spreading oak. 'Cisuey dismounted also, and the wkole party, with the
exception of two persons, seated themselves on the ground : these twn
individuals walked off into the bushes. They soon returned. each with
an armful of hickories, which, with a rope, they silently laid down near
Cisney’s feet. Not a word was spoken. Cisney became alarmed, the

tears began to roll down his pallid cheeks, and he voluritarially pro-

posed to retire with threce of the comdany whom he nawed, and to whom

he said he would make an unreserved confession. £ His request was
granted, the parties named went with him so far as to be out of hearing
of the others, and he then disclosed to them who murdered Da+is, and

where the body ‘was consealed. ) He confesséd that he held the horses
of Pennington and his coadjutors, while they committed the deed. bur

took no further part in the murder. A party repaired to the spot indi-
cated, and found the body of Dayvis. as Cisney informed them:. Cisney

was then taken on a State’s warrant, and lodged in the jail of the
county. His trial was postponed at the ensuing term of the Circuit
Court. The Court had scarcely adjourned when the jail was broken,
and he, with other prisoners, made their escape. While in prison the
jailor was notified that he (Cisney) had escaped from prison in Missis-
sippt, and was requested to detain him until they-could come ip to re

ceive him, if on his trial he should be acquitted.

V/ In the mean time, the comniunity became greatly excited, and

bodies uf men went in all directions in search of Pennidigton. His house

was watched by day and by night, and every effort made to arrest him,
When it was ascertained beyond a doubt that he had fled, a reward of
$500 was offered by private contribution, and an additional one of $500

by the Governor, for his apprehension, vV
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the @ Dr, Bourland, of Ballard county, was induced to believe, from in-
far Bormation he received, that Pennington was in Texas, and after long
aid @hd anxious consideration on the subject, determined to follow after and

fety Bcure him it possible, An account of the pursuit, capture, and return

-the Bf Pennington will be found next in order.

ens, The foregoing is submitted, not as a complete and accurate history

ed a Bf our hero, but as necessary to a clear apprehension of the circumstances

fter Bhat led to his arrest, as also to render intelligible certain portions of
was ghe evidence, which might otherwise appear confused and mysterious.

law, Bnough. however, is said to impart some idea of the characier and dis-
and Besition of the murderer of Simon Davis, which is all we aimed at, or

itu- rumi:’icd the public,
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DR. R.-BOURLAND'S HISTORY OF THE ROUTE HE TOOK
TO CAPTURE AND BRING BACK PENNINGTON,

”

v/ Domestic and professional duties prevented Dr. Bourland from fur
nishing the compiler of this work a more minuate and defailed account o
his journey to Texas; the character of the people and country, throug
which he passed, and the difficulties, triuls, and danyers he endured i
the apprehension of, and return to this State, with Pennington. Enough
however, is furnished to establish the Doctor’s reputation as @ man o
fixed resolution, indomitable perseverance, and undaunted nerve.) |
were as well to state here that 1t was rumored, and generally believed

that Pennington was entrapped by a part of his asscciates, and brough$

back to secure the reward offered for uis apprehension, Some eve
went so far as to implicate his relations ; while others, more ultra still
involved Pennington himself, making Yim a participator in bh's own ar
rest, to share the promised reward. None of which is true./ Dr. Bou
land was and is a stranger to Pennington, and his wicked association:
and executed the labor of Pennington’s arrest almost aloue. Heisua ma
of respectability, inteiligence, and good standing in his profession. b
few persons were admitted to his confidence, and those were such as b
could rely ony/ Himsclf and brothers, who reside in the South, near th
scene of arrest, with others, whom it was necessary 10 call on for a
in the immediate execution of the work, were all and the only person
engaged or interested in the enterprise. It was a matter of prime io
portance to the success of the undertaking, that ncne of Pennington
relations, connections, friends, and associates, should be apprised of th
plans ; much more important was it, that Pennington himsell should |
kept in profound ignorance of the contemplated movements. It 15
necessary, however, to enter into an argumant to show the unreason
bleness of the rumors; for common sense will, unaided, point out U
utter foolishness of such fanciful creations. The existence of such
mors makes it imperative on the author of this book to say so nuch ¢
the subject, while a sense of justice renders it obligatory on him to justif
Dr. Bourland and exculpate him from the injurious charges he has su
tained on account of the prompt, energetic and successful part he actel
i. the apprehension of the artful murderer of Simon Dayis. These fal
reports were doubtless generated and circulated by the immediate pe
sonal friends and relations of Pennington, with a view to exrice i
forestall public sympathy in his favor; that it might go well with Pe
nington should he be, in fact, arrested and brought to trial. We migl
also mention, in this place, as farther testimony in favor of Dr. Bou
land, were additional evidence required, that it was not in view of
reward he assumed the arduous work he so triumphantly executed, d
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OOK

{ that so far from its being a money-making business, it was the reverse.)
He, himself, states that after deducting the expenses necessary to be
incurred on such an expedition, the remainder was far less than his
practice would have yielded for the length of time he was absent."¥" And
we reflect on the dangers to which one must be unavoidably and certain-

1 furl ly exposed on such an undertaking, (the apprehension, namely, of a

unt off practiced villain, in a rude, wild, and almost uncivilized region of

rougil country, on a savage border, the inhabitants ef which, for the most part,
ed i@ are abandoned scoundrels and refuges from justice, it cannot be supposed
oughfl that a regard to the - recompense of reward was the only incentive to
1an of prompt to such an enterprise.) Hence it is but fair to suppose that a de-

e | sire to promote the public peace and safety formed some part of the

lieved@ motive. Indeed had Dr. Bourland been convinced that another could

rough have acted wirh‘ as m uch efliciency i_n _tlu: case as himself, he would not

. evef@ have emburked in it.. It waus the opinion of all whom he consulted,

v still§ that he was the most fit and proper person to undertake such a project.

T (llr had five brothers in Texas, one of whom lived near the place where
Boul le¢nnington had paused in his flight, besides other and numerous ac-

ationd®@ quaintances, ‘This fact. together with the remarkable traits of charac-
 u mafg ter that distinguish Dr. Bourland, his iron nerve, unflinching purpose,
n. B vnuring energy, love of enterprise, and contempt of danger, pointed
h as @ Dhimn out as the most ell*gible person to enter upon the task with any
car il hopes of success. ) These are the circumstances that moved and prompt-
or aiff td Dr. Bourland to do theduty, and free him from the imputation of
yersolfl WEre mercenary considerations, and they reflect, at the same time, honor
ne io@ ou the man., And the Doctor is correct when he says, that not one
1gtonff Person in # hundred could arrest and bring back a fugitive from justice
| of til under similar circumstances. Yy

ould | We now cometo Dr. Bourland’s history, from which we extract the
is u@@ following account, cluthed, however,in our own words,for brevity’s sake.

casond s before remarked, Dr. Bourland has, besides a numerous ::.Cz_quin-

>ut til tance, five brothers living near Red River. For some time he had felt
ich @ desirous of visiting a country ot which he had heard and real many
uch of murvelous stories, and wrote to his friends informing them of his de-

y justiff termination to do so during the spring of 1846. V™

ag 6l in the early part of Junuary last, his brother, William H. Bourland,

s7acte I.J.I_I 1.;;|11-§1|' county, Texas, visited Trigg county, State of 'Iﬂ-:—e?ﬂ;?k_y, to
se faif@ scttle some business und passed on to Hopkins, to procure a horse be- _
te ndf longing to his brother Jumes, which Mr. Gourd had rode from Texas, fa';{._ 4
ice wi some twelve months previous. In passing through Hopkinsville, he ™ e
h Pef called on Mr. Coleman Boyd,; one of our citizens, who is a friend and
e mig 2cquaiutance of William Bourland, While here he learned that one
Bouf@ S1mon Davis had been murdered, and that Alonzo Pennington was the
of t# reputed murderer—that a great excitement had existed in the commu-
ed, uff Nty on the subject, and that Pennington had fled the country to avoid

an arrest. He then inform=d Mr. Boyd that Pennington was, no doubt,

o
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T
' in the county of Lamar, Texas, near Red River, as he had heard of g
individual by that name, who shunned the society of all respectabl
persons, and mixed only with the doubtful and suspected class of res;
dents) By Mr, Boyd he was introduced to some of our most worth,
citizens, to whom he imparted the same information. At the edrnes
entreaty of these individuals, he promised to adopt measures for th
apprehension of Pennington, and even to undertake the matter himself
\/Hearing, however, that the bill for the annexation of Taxas had passe
both Houses of Congress, and knowing that the legislaiure of Tex
would be summoned to meet in consequence thereof, of which body he
was a member, he immediately foresaw the impracticability of hi
promise, and determined to enlist his brother, Dr. Bourland, in th
project.\/ Accordingly, on his arrival at the residence of Dr. Bourland,
in Ballard county, Kentucky, William_ acquainted him with the matter,
afnid urged on him the propriety of the measure. Dr. Bourland, a
first, conditionally assented to the proposition, but on more mature
deliberation gave his absolute consent, The two brothers, William and
the Doctor, concluded, and very wisely too, that a company of men
from Christian would awaken suspicion, set on foot inquiry, and that
Pennington would receive an intimation of the affair in time to change
his residence, and baffle pursuit, and thus the project would fuil of it
object ; and as it was generally expected in the neighborhood that Dr,
Bourland would accompany his brother William back to Texas, there

would be less grounds for suspicion on the part of Pennington, or hi

friends, should he engage in the undertaking. Pennington, it seems
kept a sharp look out, and was off at the least suspicious appearance, #
guilty conscience inducing the belief or fear that his crime was pursu
ing him at every step, and that every person he met was commissioned
to arrest and bring him back, to meet and endure that punishment
from which he fled, and would, but could not escape. Dr. Bourland,
for these reasons, determined to set about the duty forthwith, and prom:
ised to meet William, who was going to Tennessee, at Memphis. I
case they did not come together at that place, he would™ proceed on
down the river to Helena, and meet him at White Riyer, Arkansas. In
prosecution of this plan, Dr. Bourland left home on pretense of business
engagements in the South, went to Columbus, where he was detained
several days waiting for a boat, and finally took passage on the Govern

or Jones. e

This steamer was heavily laden, and could not, therefore, run at
night, which circumstance, together with his unavoidable detention at
Columbus, caused him to miss the time, and to fail of meeting his broth-
er at Memphis, as agreed upon. He proceeded to Felena, Arkansas,
where on landing, his horse sustained an injury, which partially disa:
bled the animal. Notwithstanding this inconvenience, Dr. Bourland
started off about 10 o’clock from Helena, and by sunset had accom
plished a distrnce of twenty-four miles. The next morning he contin:
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of ufued his journey, and reached the Ferry, of White River, about sunset
ctabl@of the same day, a distance of forty miles from his resting place the
 resiflprevious night. Thus did he accomplish sixty miles, with a lame horse,
rorthf®and over bad roads within the space of a day and a half. Here he dis-
arnes@covered that he was in advance of William, who, however, arrived at
r thithe Ferry early next morning.
msel, The country between White and Arkansas rivers is represented as
rassed@uninviting in appearance and character, and presenting no inducements
Texaufpto settlers, save at certain points, and these are desirable only as tavern
dy hefstands. ¥
f hi Little Rock is represented as about the size of Hopkinsville, and no
n thfbetter built., Here the two brothers crossed the Awkansas, and entered
rland fimmediately on a pine country, They met an individual, who from his
atter@acts and conduct, they thought was fleeing from justice, and two days
1d, af@after fell in with a company of men who were in pursuit of him. He
1aturefwas a murderer, the character they themselves were in search of, and
m andfhad fled from Louisiana, but was overtaken near Little Rock and prob-

me .11u\- shared the Tate of I-'enmngmn.

that For a distance of more than two hundred miles they traversed a
hanr@succession of{gloomy pine hills)which presented no dithculties, and
of isPwere destitute of everything like interest., Taverns were numerous,
t Dr@but infested with miserable crowds of suspicious looking persons, who
there@lived in all probabi‘ity by plunder, robbery and murder. L~
e his Whin within about sixty miles of Red River, Dr. Bourland and
eems Bhis brother sepurated, the Doctor taking what is there called the lower
1ce, dffroute. The upper route pas:ed near Pennington’s residence. This was
pursu@done in antizipation that Pennington would keep a watch on the upper
ioned@roud to ascertuin who, if any one, returned with William Bourland.
sment@On his arrival at home, William Bourland ascertained that Pennington
rland Bhad been seen by his brothers, to whom he related several stories, one
prouvfio the effcct that having become involved in some difficulty in Ken-
. Iuftucky, he shot three men in self-defense, and left horne until the ex-
=d onfcitement, consequent thereon should, in a. measure m:b&idc."" But the

In ireport that he, Pennington, had murdered Davis, having reached that

siness@ pluce, Pennington immediately left the neighborhood aud country.
ainedf vV James and William Bourland now left home to attend the meetmg
ywvern-fof the Legislature at Austin V5o that the Doctor was deprived of their
nvccssury'mui valuable co-operation. Ior a tiine he was at a loss how
un atfto proceed, as it was not known with certainty what course Penning-
ion atfton toak. Persisting, however, in his inquiries, he at length learned
broth-@that Pennington had gone to the Western part of Texas; but, as the
ansas,@story did not appear-probable from some circumstances tlmt accompa-
disa-@nied it, Dr. Bourland declined to act on the information.
irland Shortly after this he met with a younger brother; from him he
ccom- @ learned t..at lummgtnn and another individual had gone off together,
ontin-@and probably were in the Indian country. Taking with him his younger
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brother, whom Pennington had not as yet seen, and one other indiy
ual, he started in that direction, sending his brother ahead to glean
the information he could. They passed through the northern portion
Fannin county, end came to the place where Pennington crossed o
the Red River, into the Choctaw Nation, ¢ Young Bourland met wi
a gentleman who informed him that he had slept in the same room wi
Pennington.) The gentleman, at whose house they slept, inform
him the next morning, that the man with Pennington told him that
was Alonzo. He said also that he was surprised Pennington did n
make himself known as he had known him when he was a boy. M
Willis went to the river to see the informant over, and Pennington g
companied them, talking to Willis a good deal about old times, as |
had now become known to Willis, This gentleman also informed ;
that Mr. Willis was going to have a frolic that night, und that |
companion, Thomas Williams, had been sent off for whiskey, to a pla
at some considerable distance.
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We determined to make an effort to take Pennington forthwilllie the

and went some distauce to a ferry, for fear of being seen should we g
tempt to swim the river. At the Ferry we met with a Mr. Wall,
niative of the Choctaw nation, whose assistance we secured. Wa
conducted us to his hcuse, where we made all the necessary arrang
ments. When we arrived near the place where the frolic was to con
off, we learned that Pennington usually lay out in the woods durin
the day. It was therefore determined that Dr. Bourland should r
main behind in the bushes until the others advanced to the house, an
ascertained whether or no Pevnington was there, pretending the
were in search of Wall’s negro, who had run away a day or two pn
vious.

As they entered the house Mr, Willis called young Bourland b
name, on hearing which Pennington arose from the table, where h
was eating, and left the room. ( Wall ran round and intercepted i
way, while young Bourland and Capt. Yeary, who accompanied th
two brothers from Fannin county, seized hold upon him, Penningto
made a fruitless attempt to draw his pistol, but was overpowered anf
surrendered himself up.) Becoming somewhat impatient Dr. Bourlan
started to the house, and met a negro coming for him, Penningto
greeted him cordially, expressed a willingness to return to Kentucky
and said he had left home on account of the great and unjust excitemen
against him. ( He said he dreaded the mob, and begued that Dr. Bour
land would protect him from its violeace)

As Dr. Bourland was tying him, and spoke of starting immediately|
Pennington professed to be sick and thought it imprudent to turt oul
at night. Dr. Bourland inquired into the character of his disease, ani
assured Pennington he would not endanger his health by night traveling,
He then professed to be salivated and appealed to Dr.” Bourland as 3
physician to say if it was not highly improper to expose himself unde
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hame, on hearing which Pennington arose from the table, where he
fvas eating, and left the room. Wall ran round and intercepted his
way, while young Bourland and Capt. Yeary, who accompanied the
}wo brothers from Fannin county, seized hold upon him, Pennington
made a fruitless attempt to draw his pistol, but was overpowered and
urrendered himself up. Becoming somewhat impatient Dr. Bourland
ttarted to the house, and met a negro coming for him, Pennington
breeted him cordially, expressed a willingness to return to Kentucky,
bnd said he had left home on account of the great and unjust excitement
hgainst Lim. e said he dreaded the mob, and begged that Dr. Bour-
.nd would protect him trom its violeace.

As Dr. Bourland was tying him, and spoke of starting immediately,
Pennington professed-to be sick and thought it imprudent to turn out
bt night. Dr. Bourland inquired into the character of his disease, and
bissured Pennington he would not endanger his health by night traveling.
e then professed to be salivated and appealed to Dr. Bourland as a
shysician to say if it was not highly improper to expose himself under
Luch circumstances; but the Doctor examined his gums and pronounced
't not to be the case. And when he perceived that go he must and that
night, Pennington szid he would like to remain till Williams returned,
i< he bad busimess with him. But Dr. Bourland pleaded anxiety to get
bick home, which was a long way off ; he put Pennington en oune of
the horses, and took up his line of march. The company stayed, how-
ever, at Mr. Wall’s where they were hospitably and comfortably en-
tertained. After an early breakfast they resumed their journey,
attended as far as the river by their kind host. Having reached the
county seat of Fannin, they put hand cuffs on their prisoner, the better
to guard against escape.

In journeying thence they descried a party of men approaching
them. When the two parties were withiu about.two hundred yards of
each other, the :Lppmm:hihg company halted; some alighted and seemed
to be making ready for a battle. Though uncertain as to their inten-
tions, and fearing the worst, Dr. Bourland’s cempany continued on
their way, determined to act as the emergency of the case required.
What then was the agreeable surprise and relief of Dr. Bourland and
his party, on discovering that( his brother, _h)lm M. Bourland, the
Sheriff of Lamar, hcaded the opposing and hostile company, and was
coming to his assistance and comfort. Both parties then rode together,
until about midnight, when they arrived at the house of Mr. Bourland.
This was a tedious day, rendered so by the deep mud and’ continued
rains.

At this place they tarried until 12 o'clock the ensuing day, during
which time Jehn Bourland completed his arrazgements to acCompany
them as far as Shreveport. - At Mr. James Bourland’s they procured a
cchain and lock)to render the prisoner more secure, thence they pro-
ceeded to some point near the county seat of Lamar, where the roads
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forked,{one fork leading through Arkansas, the other to Shreveport )

For the first time since they took Pennington; he here manifested
a considerable degree of anxiety, frequently interrogating Dr, Bourland
as to what course he intended taking, evincing a decided preterence, on
his part, for the river route, and assigning as & reason, the precarious
state of his health.

That he might not be subjected to inconveniences, interruptions or
delays, it being of the first importance, to the success of the expedi-
tion, to exercise speed in clearing himself and Pennington from this
section of country, Dr, Bourland held out the idea, both to Pennington
and the community, that he would pass through Arkansas. He en-
deavored also to quiet Pennington, by informing him that the Raft was
impassable, else he would prefer taking boet. Several persons ad-
monished Dr, Bourland of the dangers attending both ways, and
strenuously urged him to wait until some boat should pass the Raft,
Pennington adverted frequently to the advantuges offered by the river
road, asserting that he had relations in and about Shreveport, and from
thence down to the mouth of Red River; also that he had cousins,

( proprietors of boats, who would make no charge for their passage
down, and thus his expenses would be considerably diminished.) Dr.
Bourland replied, toall this, that he usually went prepared to deiray
his traveling expenses, and valued time more: than money. When about
to mount their horses the next morning he informed Pennington that he
had concluded to take the road to Shreveport. At this Pennington
manifested much uneasiness, and pleaded vs reasons, why he wished to
go the river road, that his clothes, gun, &c., were at an uncle’s, and
that a man over Red River owed him seventy-five dollars, which he
was desirous of obtaining, and complained severely of the duplicity
and deceit practiced on him by Dr. Bourland. He was informed that
all this was mere gammon, and that the individual that he said was
indebted to him did not owe him acent, for he had refused to purchase
the horse and to have any dealing whatever with him, on account of
the suspicions attached to his character. Dr. Bourland now procured
the assistance of Mr. Barnett, and started for Shreveport. ¢ They found
the bottom of the Sulpher fork of Red river covered with water, and
had to swim their hor:ies repeatedly before they got to the maim stream,)

v During the fore part of theday Pennington was moody, silent and
angry, but so soon as the difficulties of the road presented themselves he
grew cheerful and communicative.Y

It was near dark-when they reached the river. They called to a
man on the opposite side of the stream, for assistance to cross, wbo in-
formed them it was impossible to take the horses over that night, but if
they would secure them until morning; he would bring them a skiff. in
which the men might pass over in safety. This being the only alterna-
tive, Dr. Bourland proposed to the company to secure his and their
horses in some dry place, while he wasengaged in untying Pennington
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8nd assisting him to alight. The moment Pennington found ‘his feet
t liberty he commenced striking his heels against the side.of the horse, .

bhich sprang forward, and would have escaped, had not Dr. Bourland

Beld firmly and tenaciously to the end of a long rein. attached to the

bridle bit. He succeeded in checking the animal, drew a pistol and

fvas on the point of shooting Pennington, when he began to beg for his
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flife, assuring Dr. Bourland that the horse became frightened, and com-

menced plunging of his own accord. In the scuffle Dr. Bourland re-
eived a severe blow, but whether from the foot of Pennington or the
forse’s hoof, he is unable to say. By this time the rest of the party

Beturned, and assisted in dismounting Pennington, who - appeared . sick
from mere excitement, and was much injured by the irons- around his

ncles. They then crossed the river and Pennington slept very soundly.

Early the next morning their horses were brought over, and they
ommenced their journey. During this day’s ride they met numereus
ravelers, all of whom Pennington pretended to know. One personin
barticular he seemed to know, and the individual also recognized
ennington ; for when they approached within about fifty yards, and
e discovered the condition of Pennington, he exhibited a good deal of
bxciteiment and feelingr, repeatedly halting and viewing the party close-
y. Penmington informed them who the person was, (his name, how-
ver, is forgotten) and was surprised that Dr. Bourland did not know
iim also, as the individual lived at Caledonia, a little below Metropo-
li. After passitg this individual, they met a very genteel looking old
wn and a young one. Pennington spoke to them. When they had
bassed on to some distance, Pennington remurked that the two persons
fhey had just met were from Christian, and thought it somewhat re-
narkable that they did not mention the crime with. which he was
harged as being the perpetrator. He said 1t was Squire Coleman and
is son-in-law. Their guide informed Pennington that the old -gentle-
han was a Mr. Brown, # near neighbor of his, and not Coleman; to
Which Pennington replied he was mistaken then, e e

There was a large crowd of persons at the house they stayed that
hicht, some of whoin bad heard of the murder of Davis, and one who
fepresented himself as a Kentuckian, informed . Dr.  Bourland that a
lort time previous to this, a murderer, who escaped from Mississippi,
Was rescued from his capturers on this very road, and advised him to
keep a sharp lookout ; to be particularly cautious as they passed through
Harrison county, as it was noted for the crimes and villainy that had
been perpetrated in it for two-years past. The continued rains at this
Eritical period of their journey, were of great assistance ; for to protect
the prisoner it was necessary to cover him over with a large bilunket,
vhich at the same time served to conceal his situation, -so that. they
passed unmolested.
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The night of this day was very cold and inclement, and it snowed
incessantly. Owing to the great number of travelers, every vacant
space at the tavern was occupied when the Doctor’s party arrived, and
it was exceedingly difficult to find a place where even the prisoner
might rest. Room was finally made tor him by the five-place, and two
of the company kept watch by turns. They experienced also considera-
ble difficulty in crossing the water courses the next day, as they were
swollen to a great highth by the late rains. This was in Louisiana,
where they met some footmen going to Trinity river, but after they had
arrived at Shreveport, and took boat to go down the river, the same
persons came on board and said they were going back to Kentucky,
Three took a deck passage, and one selected a stateroom near that of
Dr. Bourland’s.

Before they got to Shreveport the guide was sent ahead, to ascertain
if & boat was up, and make preparations for their passage. The guide
returned and brought information that a boat was there landing and
would leave the next day, The party halted where they were, and re.
mained until morning., They managed to reach the landing at the time
appointed for sailing. All now dismounted but Pennington, who re-
fused to do so, remarking that they had taken the wrong man, as he
could prove by an individual in the crowd, which was dense. Dr
Bourland replied that it was very strange he should compluin of this
mistake hére for the first time, after having traveled over three hun
dred miles, without so much as once urging it. That he was sure no
man in the crowd was base enough to assert that the prisoner was not
Alonzo Pennington; that he, Dr. Bourland, knew liim to be the same;
and that it was fruitless to resort to such vain expedients to get released
as he was determined to take him back or die in the atiempt to do so.
He then ordered Pennington to dismount, and put him on board the
steamer Yazoo in a comfortable and strong room. Pennington was
very angry and rattled his chains a good deal, until Dr, Bouriand
threatened to confine him closely -and immoveably. Pennington wus
allowed the length of his chain, and furnished with every comfort his
situation would enable him to enjoy.

The following day, when Dr. Bourland had retired to his own
room, adjoining the prisoner’s, to take some rest, he heard Pennington
at work on his chains. From a little crevice he could see Pennington
without being observed himself. Pennington puiled off a hook, w hich
was used for hanging up clothes, and endeavored to break off the
chains therewith., When Dr, Bourland thought Pennington had ex-
ercised himself sufficiently at this game, he went te his room, and
asked him what be was doing. Pennington denied he had made any
effort to break his shackels, but the Doctor raised the mattrass up, and
drew forth the hook Penningtcn had concealed beneath it, cautioning
him at the same time, to desist from such attempts in future.

The trip down Red river was very tedious snd disagreeable, em:
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bracing five days; during which time they watched Pennington both
wed B night and day, as he continued his efforts to break off the irons from
cant @ his person.
and Shortly after the boat entered the Mississippi river, a severe storm
oner @ arose, and consternation spread through every part. During the con-
two fusion that ensued from apprehensions that the boat would sink, the

S Bisimrs SR

1
lera- @ cries ot affrighted women and children, the noise of the rushing winds, |
vere @ gplashing of the angry waves, and running to and fro of the passengers |
ana, @ and hands, hope beamed on the prisoner. He embraced. the favorable :

|

had @ (ccasion, and strove mightily to prize off the ceiling of the room, Being
ame @ informed of this, Dr. Bourland hastened to the room, unlocket it, and
cky. B found Pennington putting forth his whole strength to accomplish his
it of @ purposes. Pennington’s situation was a ludicrous one. ( Putting two
: pillows doubled against the head piece or planks of the birth, he placed
rtain @ his head against them and his feet against the ceiling, lying flat on his
ruide @ back : he thus converted himseif into a cort of lever, and had well nigh
and @ succeeded in bursting off the ceiling, when Dr. Bourland arrived.

b e iy - =

d re-@ Pennington denied that such was his design, and said he was:only =
time® stretching himself.V =
O ra- On the first of March the boat arrived at New Orleans, Here Dr. =

s hel® Bourland called on Dr. Steele, and learning that no Cumberland river
Dr.® boat was in port, through the ageney of Dr. Steele, disposed of Men-
this@ nington until an opportunity presented itself to ship for Canton. It

hun-@ required some management to conceal the prisoner, so as to avoid the

e nof service of a writ of habeas corpus, which was happily effected. They
not @ remained in New Orleans seven days.

ame: Dr. Bourlund thinking the news would reach Kentucky before he
cased @ could possibly do so, and fearing that the friends of Pennington would
o s0.@ muake an effort to rescue him, deemed it advisable to conceal his real

1 the@® movements. For this purpose he engaged passage on the Old Hickory,
was@ intending, however, to sail on the James Dick, which would leave be-
rland B fore the Old Hickory. (The news reached Hopkinsville that he would
wisl be up on the Old Hickory, and a company immediately went down to
t his@ (anton to escort the prisoner up to the Christian jail.) Accordingly
Dr. Bourland got Pennington on board the Dick at night, unknown ex-
OWINE cept to a few persons.
1gion During the passage up Pennington made some cfforts to free his
wgton® nands, which were all vainand fruitless. The day before the boat
vhich® reached Canton, Pennington requested Dr. Bourland to deliver him in-
I thef (0 the hands of the lawful authorities ; that he did not fear the result of
d ex-B & fair trial, as he would make it appear who the murderer was. He
and® confessed that he had told Dr. Bourland many stories about different
> any@ things, and could hardly expectto be believed by him; but that he had
. and@ actually seen Cisney, who was murdered on Red river, about the first
oning® of February, and that Cisney had sworn falsely against him, and _he
could prove it. Subsequently he said he had no acquaintance with
en:




| u

either Davis or Cisney.
On the thirteenth of March the boat arrived at {Canton, on th
Cumberland river\\when Dr. Bourland and the prisoner were receivei
by the company that went from Christian. Pennington was guarde
all that night by this company, and Dr. Bourland for the first tim
since he had captured Pennington, felt safe and easy. The next da
the party started off for Hopkinsville, at which place they arrived aboy
sunset. An immense crowd had assembled to witness the arrival,
Peunington was then committed by the proper authority to th
ail, to uwait his trial at the ensuing term of the Circuit Court.
<y Dr. Bourland had traveled on this expedition thirty-two hundre
miles, and was absent 54 days in all. ™%

N It will readily be conjectured that he encountered many and apall
ing difficulties and dangers. ¥ Indeed the nature of the business he under
took, the artful ch.xr.wter of the individual he pursued, (the extensiy
association whose head and chief he had captured, the unciviliz
country through which he traveled, the desperate inhabitants, compose
of robbers, thieves, murderers. gnd fugitives from justice, rendered il
project perilous in the extreme.) Nor can the reader fail to be 1m
pressed with the inexhaustible cunning and quick artifice exhibited «
each and every occasion by Pennington, how vigilant to HDProyve ever
occurrence to his own advantage, and how ingenious to creute opporty
nities where an ordinury mau would have l.ll_“-t['lﬂ-lllll :d,. The dispositio
he manifested 1n such early ehildhood cleaved to him to the last, so thi
at length it really hLLll‘lL(l(LU be more natural to him to lie than ro speu

the truth : and, as will be seen in the end, he died with a lie on his lipy
THe cirgumstances of his flight, arrest, aund safe delivery to the ju

of the county, all considered, render this one of the most remuarkablf§ Kut
instances on record, and we venture nothing when we say, that scarc§ morn
ly an individual in the country, with the exception of Dr. Bourlanil ther
could have executed the work with one half the success. Wis
We are not disposed to attribute such results unnecessarily to U #ecc
interposition of Providence, but it does seem as if His band was plainijf suit
to be seen in this case. trial
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e On the ———— day of March, the case »f the Commonwealth of
rkab @ Kutucky vs, E. A\, P:nnington, charged with the murder of one Si-
ccarcl mon Davis, was called up by special appointment. The jailor wuas
rland thereupon directed to bring the prisoner into court. . A strong guard

was summoned to the aid of ihe jaiior, and shortly after,( Pennington,
o thff accompainied by his wife\appeared at the bar, Aftera moment’s con-
sultation with his counsel, the prisoner signified his readiness to g into
trial. The next step was the impanneling of the jury, which was af-
fected in a shorter time than anticipated, as ths accused speedily ex-
hausted bhis number of peremptory challenges. ;

A sufficient number of jurors being listed, they were found to con-
sist of the following individuals, namely :YR. G. Henry, Elijah B.
Richeson, James Perkins, William Dworett, O. C. Smith, Reuben
Settle, G. W. Harvey, John J. Walker, Sarmnuel Gresham, Robert Foard,
H. Abernathy, Joseph A. Blewer, who were sworn according to the
usual form.¥ The clerk then delivered to the jury their charge.

The prisoner at the bar was now called on to hear and answer to
the following indictment, which being read to him, the clerk as usual
asked, **What say,you, guilty or not guilty!”’ to which the prisoner
replied, “*Not guilty.”

) lainly
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INDICTMENT.

Commonwealth of Kentucky, ! Set
Christian County and Circuit. | :

The jurors of the Grand Jury empanneled, sworn, and charged tg
inquire for the said Commonwealth and the body of the county afore
said, at the term of Christian Circuit Court, held for the preparation
and trial of chancery cases and criminals, and commenced on the sec
ond Monday in July, in the year one thousand(eight hundred and forty.
five,)on their oath present that Edward Alonzo Pennington, (commonly
called Alonzo Pennington) late of said county and circuit, laborer, on
the ninth day of May, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hun
dred and forty-five, with force and arms, at the circuit aforesaid, in the
county aforesaid, in and upon one Simon Davis, in the peace of the
Commonwealth, then and there being, feloneously, willfully, and of his
malice aforethought, did make an assault; and that the said Edward
Alonzo Pennington, (commonly called Alonzo Pennington) with 4
certain hickory stick, in his right hand, then and there held, in and
upon the head of the said Simon Davis, then and there feloniously,
willfully, and of his malice aforethought, did strike the said Simon
Duvis three several mortal blows, and with both his hands, the said
Edward Alonzo Pennington, (commonly cualled Alonzo Pennington)
then and there feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought
(did mortally beat, and cast, and throw the said Simon Davis into a deep
pit and cavern under ground, of the depth of eighteen feet, on the saud
ninth day of May, in the year afcresaid—the said Simon Davis, at the
circuit aforesaid, in the county aforesaid, of the said mortal blows,
beating, and being cast and thrown into the said deep pit and cavern,
died.)

And the jurors aforasaid, upon their oath aforesaid, do further pre:
sent,ﬁihut Benjamin F. Cisney, late of the said county, luborer, on the
day and year aforesaid, with force and arms, at the circuit aforesaid,
feloniously was present, aiding, abetting, and assisting the said Ed
ward Alonzo Pennington, (commonly called Alonzo Pennington) the
striking of the said several blows, and beating, and casting, and throw-
ing into the said pit and cavern under ground, of him, the said Simon
Davis to do and commt. )

And so the jurors aforesaid, upon their oath aforesaid, do say that
the said Edward Alonzo Pennington, commonly called Alonzo Pen-
nington ) and Benjamin F. Cisney, the said Simon Davis, in manner
and form aforesaid, feloniously, willfully, and of their malice afore:
thought, did kill and murder, contrary to the statute in such cases
made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the Common-
wealth of Kentucky.
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Information given by ‘{'—I_:IJUS. Pyle,
James N, Spurlin, W. S. Compton,
George W. Bradley, P helps Grego-
ry, D.D, Myers, ]”I”' W. Grissam, | John MecLarning, attorney for the
E. M. Robinson, Wiley Robinson, Commonwealth.

Benjamin Harrison, Rice Dulin,<
James Robinson, Harman ‘man_ W est, | Zazhariah Glass, foreman of the
D. S. Hays, Geo. .'\I_n]m. [saac Grand Jury.

Henderson, C., Meacham, Thomas =TT
fones, 5. |. Hawkins, and W. H.
E"":i-bL'I‘H.

The above indictment was fnuml( 26th July, eighteen hundred
and I'(}rt)'-ﬁ\.'e.) Th: court house was crowded with an immense multi-
tude, eager tc witness the trial, which was mnot sensibly diminished
it roughout the three days it [:uupu d. Numbers also lined the way
jrom the court bouse to the jail, to catch a sight of the prisoner as he
pid 155€d.

As before stated, the accused pleaded not guilty, and the trial
commenced by the introduction of Winn S. Compton, on the part of
the Commonwealth.

Witness being sworn, was interrogated, and answered in substance
as follows :

Question. Were you acquainted with Simon Davis? Answer, 1
was. Q. Were you at the cave when the body was taken out? A, I
was, Q. Was the body that of Davis? A. I have no doubt of it [A
cravat and some other articles of ¢ clothing  were produced.] Q Did
these belong to Davis? A. The cravat 1 took from the body. Davis

his washing done at my house. Witness was then usked to de-
scribe the cave and when the body was found. A. The cave is I5
miles north of Hopkinsville, between the Greenville and Elkton roads.

1d about one quarter of a mile trom the public road. A small p-uf
ikads to it. The body was found on S turday; I was at the cave on {~
Sunday, Itisa i;]ll: E'lhrL ular hole 5 or 20 feet deep. Q. When were
youat the cave? A, In July. Q. State what you know about the
body, its himtuiun. appearance, &c., when taken out. - A. The cave is
narrow at the top, but widens as it deepens. At the distance of 12 or
14 feet isa kind of platform of rock. from which several apartments
lead off in different ways, On this pl.tlimm the body lodged. There
were signs of violence on one side of the skull: I think the right side
was broken out. Q. You think the body was that of Davis? A. From
what I saw of it and the clothes, I have no doubt of it, { I made for him
the shoes which he had on.) Q. How far did Davis live from you?
A. About one and a half miles. Q. How far isthe cave from your
house and Davis’s? A. About the same from each, 15miles Q. When
and where was the Battallion musier? A. On the gthot May at Pleas-

ant Fill uwctmghoum*ﬁ{. How far is the muster ground from the
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cave? A. Six or seven miles. Q. State if you were at muster that d,
and if so, whether you saw Davis and Pennington there, A, 1 ¢y
manded a company on that day; saw Davis there ; called the names
both ; both answered ; but I did not see them together on that du:*.""'f' T}
witness, in answer to various other iterrogatories, stated as follow:
There were suspicions that Davis had been murdered some time befo
the body was found. He missed Davis after the muster, and went |
Davis’s house on several occasions, but saw nothing - of him, Da;
itved alone, On Tuesday week after the muster he went to Pennin,
ton’s to make some inquiries about Davis; asked Pennington when |
last saw Davis, After some hesitation, Pennington replied that he gy
him lust on the day of Burn’s exhibition. Pennington said furthe
thar Davis was at that time near Clarksville at work, and would
home in two weeks. Witness then inquired of Pennington, if he hy
bought Davis’s property. to which Pennington replied that he had, an
turning to his wife, asked her it any one had been to Davis’s place
feed the stock. Q. When and where wus Burns’s exhibition? A Th

(W'mlnesda)-‘ after the muster, on the Bufler road, seven miles east .
Hopkinsville,; about one and a half miles from Pennington’s, not so
from Davis’s) Q. How long after the disappearance of Davis, befor
Pennington took the property away? A. I donot know. The proj
erty was not all taken away atone time. 1 saw some ploughs, hoes
gear and axe, and other articles that belonged to Davis, at Pennington's
Witness also stated that Pennington turned his stock into Davic's o
field, and that he saw Pennington’s overseer and negroes at Davis
place. Q. Were you at the exhibition? A. I was, but did not s
Davis there. Had he been there I should have seen him. aDi
Pennington say he saw Davis there? A. He did. Q. Who usualj
went with Davis to the muster?. A. Davis and myself uvsually wen
and returned together on the same day.. When I left on this oceasio
Davis was not ready to return. Q. Did you ever see Davis after ths
muster? A. Never, until his body was found in the cave.

Cross examination by defendant- Q. Were you at Davis’s on the
exhibition day? A, I wasthere on the evening of that day. Am nd
positive whether it was Wednesday or Thursday, but think it wa
Wednesday. Q. Did you miss any of the property at that time? A
Not at that time, nor untilafter my interview with Pennington. (
What season was this? J\.(Spri:lg. Hogs were running mtt.) Q. Di
Pennington say he saw Davis on the day of the exhibitinn? A. |
think Pennington said positively he saw him on tnat day. To appro:
priate questions put by the defendant’s counsel, the witness responded
in substance as tollows: That he is a relative of Davis's wife, who
died in the latter part of April, and that he lived on a piece of land be:
longing to her, That he was told some of the property that Davis gol
by his wife was removed before the muster, but does not know it
That Dayis was endeavoring to sell his property, crop, &c., with a view
of leaving the country, and said he would go to Illinois if he could
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: sell—was dissatisfied with this country, and thought he could make
Cop

more at his trade. Q. Was there not a great crowd at the exhibition ?
{] g 8 B M 5 iy o = e e o i 5 T > ¥ ¥’

-'.TIFL'I'E A %hhrt was—some three or four hr.mdr[d_p‘c_rmm. Q. Can you say
Y. L Davis was not there? A. I cannot say positively he was not, only 1
)llm_.'f: did not see him, but think I should have seen him if he had been there,
befol +c T was door-keeper part of the time, Q.. Did you never see a cravat

€nt @ jike this in eourt? A. I do not recoilect to have seen any like it. Q.
“fi‘-' Did you ever see jeans like this? A. 1 have. Q. Do you know this to
NNINge he Davis’s hat? A. I know the hat as well as the other articles to be :
hen | his, Q. And you never saw a cravat like this before? A. I may have i
he saf seen some, but do not recollect any.
urthe ! : 2 - ; .
1 Examination in chiet resnmed. Q. How much did Davis ask for
e il s crop? A. Three dollars per acre. Q. After what had occurred
d. a:R did you see Pennington’s hands at Davis’s place? A.(Yes, I saw them
y dil o P s P 3 - L g
ace (@ after these events working the crop. )} Pennington offered to sell me the

\ TiRcorn- Q. Did you often see Pennington? A, Not often. Q. When

a5t 4 did you see Pennington after suspicion was aroused that Davis was
so @ murdered? A. Not until the time before mentioned, I went to see
befo R him several times but did not do so. Q. Where was the hat found:
proj A. Near the cave. The body found in the cave you know to be Davis’s? °
E“m:_ A. 1 am satisfied it was.

rton's Cross examined by defendant. Q. When was the body found?

S ol A About IIu-(z ith or 12th of _inl}'.) 2 Do you know that Penning-

davis@® ton was in the neighborheod up 1o that time? A. I do not. I was

Ot stabinformed that Pennington was at my house the Sunday before. Q.

. DillWere you at a meeting held at Antioch? A. I was at a meeting held
here when resolutions were passed for forming a S::!'t:[)' society.

s not the object of that meeting to take and punish Pennington?

. I donot know. Q. Was there not an armed puard on the ground P

°r LhgmA, There wus. Q Do you know that threats were made directly

srainst Pennington? A, 1 do not, { The most that was done consisted

n thesly arrangements to catch Pennington. ) Q Did you not hear itsaid they

N nogvould hang Pennington without a trial? A, I did not.

E - wii g : . : - - 2 :

S Examination in chief resumed. Q. When was this meeting? A,
o BT he day before the body wes found., Q. The object of the meetiny
‘-l- b < =

Didlvas to provide for catching Pennington, you say. Was it because he
: A ‘@vas thought to be the murderer? A. He was supposed té be the mur-
o erer.  Q Did ycu see Pennington after this? A, Not until Isaw him

ypro- . ; LI : :

En': Bin court: Q What was said about Pennington? A, It was said he

ynded . Oy ¢ :
wholPught to be punished ; that he ought to be hung over the cave withount

.d be-Bvdge or jury. This was said by individuals, and not by society.

s got David D. Myers, sworn on the part of the Commonwealth,

v it.@Werdyou or not at the cave when the body of Davis was found? If so,
viewtate t he circumstances. A, I was present when Davis’s body was
could @found, on or about the rith of July, 1845. You might see the outlinas

b adls e T MR A AV o i st R e — e R e AW R R R S
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of the body from the top after looking awhile. 1 went down and
amined the ::;u'u,( [t 15 about eight feet at the top, about thirty feet@pid De
the bottom, from north to south ; not so wide east and wusf.j Q. [@ay bhe
you know the purse that belonged to Davis? A, Yes. Mr. Robina@bills
found a purse near the cave, which .was the same that I saw in Daviflinvitec
hands. Q. How do you know it? A, It was a very peculiar purse @ithat he
I'J()cl{{fl-l,}:n'-k. I poticed it particularly when Davis paid me a must@Pennii
finea day or two before tne muster, It was made of cloth, with Jhear
string at both ends. Q. How much, or did he appear to bhave miq B
money 2. A. I suw some reven or eight dollars in silver and a roll @tocet
paper money. Q. When was this? A, It was the 7th of May,
lilmk—hduau thg, muster. 5 wiche

E. Robinson, sworn on the lnrl of the Commonwealth. (&
..._--'—"— Eee - B . - ! 1 1
Did you find this purse, or pocket-book? If so, when and where? Bl.d

I found this pocket-book about fifteen feet from the cave on the sup B
day, and uii.‘_\' a few minutes before the body wasfound. Q. Was the
anythingin it? A. I did not examine it. It was ¢ pen. Isaw no s E
ver in it.  There was no string to it.

David D. Myers recalled. Q. Was there anything in the pocke
book when you saw it at the caver Nothicg when [ saw it. Harma
West handed it to me.

Wiley Robinson, sworn on the part of the Commonweulth. (]
were )‘(-Jii" at the cave when the body was found? If so, state all voll ud <
know A, I was the first to enter the cave. The body was pan

covered with leaves and small sticks. The skull was broken ar
a piece of itout. Q. Did the leaves and sticks look as if placed ther
or had only fallen in? A. It seemed as if they were thrown in to cor

ceal the boly. Possibly they may nave fallen in. Q. Dessribe the sity

ation ot the cave? A.lIt is on nigh ground, near the road that leadf .
from White Plains, and has bushes around it. It widens at the distan WO
of fouror five feet from the top. ) {

Philip Gregory, sworn. Q.. Were you at the cave when the bodi
was found? A. I was there I]w day the body was taken out, (
Was it the body of Davis? .'\. [ do not ]{mm. it to be his body. L._
Did you see property of Davis’ at Pennington’s: A. 1 saw proper T w.
there which Mrs. Pennington surrended as his prn[:ul\ Q. W ||| ¢
did you see Pennington Lihl..’ A. A few days bejore the body wul
found. Q
Crossexamined, Y. Is not your shop on the public read? A. I -
is. 'Q., Did not Pe nmlwhm pass your shop the day after the muster:
AL llk' lid, and ﬁtc:pnml for awhile. Q. Did not Mrs. Penningtor
deny the property spoken of above was Davis'? A. I did not heuf§,

her deny it, but she a appeared unwilling to give it up at first. 15
Ff}lmi\k'iiv sworn in chief. Q. Did you know Davis? If so

state when you saw him last, A, I knew him, and saw him and Pen-

nington together several times on Thursday before the muster. Q.

N A i, et |y ik 1 Lo




Py A He did. | Dayis dined with me the

fl.'i-:'_ I'}?[! E"l:a\‘iu' have anvy mon -
Q_ [y |'--'ﬁl|.»:.':- th my house. ] SAW him in possession of several

Davidlinvi
tirse gthat

must@Pens
with B he:

T Cross examined.. Q. W hat time of dav was it when you saw them
roll @iogether? A, 1 think it was between 10 and 11 o’clock. Q. Did Loi
lay. o see them leave town togethe r?  No. 1 only heard them say t
i hed to do so. Davis said he would go h  Penniigt
h, | rto 18 the b he had m t n, since Urrays
3
B! 1 } [vers. rel ed L ‘_ 5 - ( -book the same yol saw
AL ) \ : A 11 .

|.:‘I||L' | '_:- .. !'.": B! A .;". Vel LATE

no s I vV R ibinson, rec led. ). Is this the same pursc ¥ 1 '..":1!‘.'1{21
p— - . » oy . i % A E i
155 i\ L 1 taen op g g I'Hi'!{ -
ookl hook as it was when he found 1t
a1 } % ™ 11 5 -]
Armn I 1 ) | \ atallton muster?
S o -
[ 3w - . i of 1 \ ) VDL
e g ) | d not | | W { ]

l‘ill 1 ¥ ! 1 i E
-

I 4 Q. Whi A - In the Wi ;. Pen-

thes wr, and sseds 1

O Col t i \ 1 3 1 | \ 1én

sl i 1 I ‘-_ i )’ L=

- tle a he

Ly W 1
E . ik - w3 2 & 3 3 o Q.
Al \Were they at musters A1 saw: boih There, L [hd yvon see them leave
It]c1._-r:' focethers: A 14 They started(abont ; N T L
notoll 1o d4irection of Samuel Johnson's. “Q ] asant &
h'*""r ENort anel i x _ _ 1,_']—— Yl i.-.!.ai. Rl l i
fom the muster sround? A [They started trom th af
If so. of the meeting house. ) o direction thev 3
1 Pen- proper col rse to oo home! His proper: L TSE & 10

) : ! rEx : .
{"" that e Took. ) Were you-au e Caye vy il

P = =
A A S : . - -
—— e ] 2 g a b T




32

T was there when the body was taken out, and helped to take it out, Q.
How far is the cave from the meeting house? A. About five miles. Q.
Was the course Pennington took the direct course to the cave? A, It
was, Q. What kind of clothes had Davison? A. Idid not notice bis
clothes. Q. Was this the hat Davishad on? A. That or one like it. Q.
Isita public way to the cave? A, No,itis private. I saw Penning-
ton get a bottle of liquor before starting.

Cross examined. At what time did you see Davis and Penning-
ton leave? A. Aboutan hour by sun. Q. Were you not drunk? A. 1

. was about tight as usual, but in a condition to be at m;,-.:elf.'l Q. How
many drinks did you take that day? A, 1 did not mark down the num-

ber. Q. What kind of clothes had Davison? =~ A. I did not notice his
clothes. Q. Did you see Pennington and Davis leave? A. I saw them
leave the spring together, and go to their horses. Q. Did not you see
anyone else with them? A. Isaw no one but Davis ana Pennington go
that way. Q. Did not Pennington have a gun? A. 1 did not see it.
Q. Is there not undergrowth between the spring and the church
that prevents the sight? A. You can sec from the spring to the church,
Q. What kind of hat did Pennington have on? A. I think it was a black
fur hat.

Examination in cnief resumed. (). How are the muster groun d and
spring situated with respect to each other? A The muster ground is to
the right of the spring. Q. Did you see Davis and Pennington leave
together? A. 1 did. The report of Davis* murder recalled these facts
to my mind. Q. What was Davis’ condition? He seemed drunk. Q.
Is this the hat you saw on a bush at the cave? A. The same, or like it.

Cross examined, Q. Did you not get into some difficulties on that
day? A. Ido not recollect that I did on that day.

Wiley Robinson, recalled. Q. 1sthis the bat you saw at the cave!
A, It is likeit.

Cross examined. What time was it when you got to the muster
sronnd? A. It was late, about half an hour by sun. Q. Was not
Elmsley Henderson drunk? A. ( He was livelv, not very drunk? )

Examined in chief. Q. Was not Henderson sober enough fto
know and recognize his acquaintances? A, He was, ), Would you
or not believe him on oath? A. T would.

James Vaughan swora. Q. Did you ever hear Pennington say
anything about where Davis was? if so, state all about it. AL (Aflter
the report of Davis’ murder, I heard Pennington say Davis was in
Illinois. ( Pennington came to my house . on Sunday evening, intro-
duced the subject, and said he had been in the neighborhood hunting
news; that he heard Davis had beeun killed, but it was not so, for
Davis was in Illinois domng well.) I told Pennington if it was me L
would bring Davis back if he was in the back part of Georgia, and
clear up the matter, rather than have such suspicions hanging over me.

He said
Vhen
Compte
Cr
'-LS.:
{linois
here, a1
his pro
bold D
pc:' pm
gee Da
did nof
gome L

1o g0 H

not thi

D.
W hat
Davis
him ;&
C
“L‘ ﬁ;!.i
May ¥
think
ter. '
wheve
A
A. Shi
[“.15«_11.
C
do no!
R
anyth
about
Penni
ulso
I]L'gr't'h
L
AT
recoll
myse!
I:
in to
they
Brad’
far a

R P B St = : : = \ =5 el W BT
o - == RPN R RL A




33.

Q. Ple said he did not want Davis to come back until after big Court. Q.
Q. fWhen did you hear that the body was found? A. Next Saturday;

It ompton sent me word the body was found.

his Cross examined. Q. Did Pennington say he saw Davis in Illin-
Q. fois? A. He did not say that he saw Davis, only that Davis was in
ng- Qllinois, doing well. Q. Did not Davis tell you he was dissatisfied
here, and would not stay? A. He did, and tried to sell me some of
ng- his property. I went to Davis’ house, looked at various things, and
.1 Rold Davis if he would bring them up, I would give him three cents
low Rper pound, Davis did s», and I paid the money. - Q. When did you
am. Bsee Davis last? A I have not seen him since. Q. Pennington said he

his Bdid not wish Davis to come back? A. He said he did not wish him to
ém Bcome back till after Court. Q. Did not Pennington say he did not wish
cce o go after Davis till after Court? A. He might have said so, but I do
1 g0 not think he did. )
R Daniel H. Harrison, (brother-in-law of Pennington,) sworn. Q.
rch BWhat did Pennington tell you about Davis? A. He told me that

cch. EDavis was some where on the river, below Pabucah; that he had seen
lack Rbim: that he was at work on a steam-mill. ) ’
. » . i 3 —
Cross examned. Q. Did Pennington say he had seen Duvis?  A.

and BHe said be hid seen him a short time previous to our conversation. Q.
i« t fMay you not be mistaken as to his saying he had seen Davis? ALl
.yve ERthink I am not, for my mind was very much interested about the mat-
acts Bter. (L When was this conversation? A. Soon after July Court,

Q. where 1 first heard of the report thut Davis was murdered.
Alfred Younglove, swomn. Q. Are vou acquainted sith Davis?

e 1, —— .
that IRA. Slightly. Q Was Davis at muster? A, 1 saw him there, and he pro-
posed to sell 1oe his hogs.
avel Cross examined. Q. Did you see Henderson at the muster? A, 1
do not recollect seeing him,
1ster Richard Vaughan, sworn. Q. Did you ever hear Pennington say
not I enything about w here Davis was? -A. I met Pennington on the road

) about one mile from Edward’s, after I had heard of Davis’ murder.
h to (1’vl:l1i:!;{!t>:! told me Duvis wus near Clarksville. Penningtontold me
also that Bradley gave him twenty dollars for his bargain in tne

| sou
5 \ L . 1 £ AR
negro. girl be I:funr{h[ of Davis. ) . . -
say Cross examined. Q. Did you ask Pennington where Davis was?

\ fter @ A 1 don’t think I did. Pennington spoke of it himself. Q. Do you
i recollect this from hearing others speak of it, or of yourself? A, Of

S in

ntro- | myself.

1tind Richard Bradley, sworn, Q. Didyou see Pennington and Davis
for @ In town before the muster? A. Yes. about a week before, Q. Did

¥ - -
ne 1R they leave together? A. They did. On the cross examination Mr.

and f Bradley stated that he went out of town with Pennington and Davis as

1 ~ o i . . ® - =
far as the widow Pyle’s. Witness was in the clerk’s office when Davis

[ 1€,
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-tha with me, but I can’t say I saw him that night, I was asleep when
ISoil Pennington came,
’_“1‘ I Cross examined. Q. You say Pennington slept with you—how it is
hour you did not sce him that night? A, Penningten did not hlmg a candle
up with him. Q. How did you know Pennington had arrived? A. I
ome did not know it until he came to the foot of the stairs and-called me
= Wi Q. Had you not swapped horses with Pennington at the muster? A. Yes.
ot m (. Did not the horse have the big head, and was he not to come to your
Wi mother’s for some oil of spike? A. I swapped him a horse with the
| big head, and told him Inuu.(l let him have some oil of spike. Q. Was
d he not to come for it that night? A, No time was mentioned for him
Fan to come,
1 Examination in chief resumed. 0. Did Pennington say he would
| lu-l'- come that night? A. He talked of doing so, and when I left I asked
hinr him to go with me, but he said he could not that night
w b Cross examined. . Did not Pennington say if you would wait he
5. would go with you? A. He 4id not. Q. Did not i’unmn-rlfm say he
would go so soon as he saw a certain person? A. I donot recollect that
1% be he did.
S 1 i‘:.".'.l:ﬂl':]t_'t.]._liﬂ c]:i_ul'. _1‘-.-3. I'In‘\'.: far 1s the muster ground from your
> A house? = A. J._num six miles. Q. Were you at the cave when the bn'\‘
ey was taken out? A, I was. Q. Is your house onthe way from the cave
v b Pennington’st A Notmnuch out of the w ay,
s Cross L-:\_-:‘,-;‘::H'.llﬁll. [L How far l'- the cave from vour house?
E saw A About Fix mile Q What kind of a road is it from the cave to
saw yoeur house? A \ 511[ road.
%-I::iil Langley Bell, sworn. Q. Did you ever go to Pennington’s house,
L if so, state for what. A I went to Pennington’s house to see about an
account ] had against Davis. I asked Pennington where Davis w-::c.
\ T P T |w;u| not far off; that Davis-was ke eping out of the
hield sheriff’s way, and had been badly treated by his wife’s relations. Pen-
oWl nington agreed te :«'L.HIL. the account. Q_ Had you heard before this of
Y the suspicions ugai inst Pennington? A 1 had.
said Cross examined. Q. Did Pennington and Davis come to vour shop
after on a certain occasion? If so, state what took place. A, Davis and
, not Pennington came together to my shop. Davis wanted indulgence. Pen-
nington said he was about to buy Davis’ property, and would arrange
S the matter if 1 wouid take |t‘i!1u.1t_t| executions, I agreed, and Pen-
id ol nington said well, we will see. |
o Examined in chief, Q What did Pennington cay, when vou went
OWi- to his house? A. He told me not to be uneasy; that I sheuld be paid
rson in a shoft ‘time- He asked me if I would take a note on Br: adley for
sty twenty dollars, and another on Compton, I replied [ would., He said
No. he would bring them in a few days to me. Q Was the note on Brad-
falr ley for less than twenty dollars? A It was not,
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Cross examined, Q Did not Pennington say it was a claim on
Bradley? A He did not say claim, but note. Q Was it over twenty-
two dollars? A Ido not think it was : it was not under twenty dollars,

R. Bradley, recalled, Q Did you ever give more than one note to
Davis? A Never but one, and that was for twenty-two dollars and
seventeen cents, at least that is what I paid Pyle for Davis. Q Did you
ever give a note of this amount to Pennington? A 1 gave no note to
Pennington.

Mrs. McFadden, sworn, Was Pennington at your house on the
night of the muster? A He was. Q What time was it? A About
two hours in the night. Q Was anyone with him? A No ene, Q.
Had the family gone to bed? A Partofthe family had. Q. Did Pen.
nington look excited? A He looked as usual.

Cross examined. Q What time was it when Pennington arrived
at your house? A Mr. Cooper had just returned, eat his supper, and
gone to bed. The family had done eating, and the things were on the
table. Q Was it not the usual supper time? A Supper was later
than usual, not much, sowever. Q Had you not sent word to Penning:
ton to come and see you that day? -~ A I sent word to that effect, but
do not recollect it was on the day of the muster [ sent the word.

Mrs. Cooper, swern. Q At what time did Penrvington get to Mrs,
McFaddin’s, the night of the muster?  A. About two hours in the
night.

Crose examined. Q Did not Mrs. MecFaddin send for him that
day? A I do not know that she did on that day.

Davis Compton, sworn. Q Did you ever hold any conversation
with Pennington about Davis? If so, state the circumstances. A About
Friday week before the body was found, 1 was ploughing in the fiel
on the road. Pennington rode up to the fence, and asked me 1f I had
heard the tales about his killing Dayis, I told him I had. Penning-
ton then said he had seen Davis, and would insure him to be sound and
well: that Davis was building a chimney for some man at a little place
below Clarksville.

(-oss examined. Q Did Pennington call to you, or you to him!
A Pennington rode up to the fence and called me by name. Q Did
he say he had seen Davis? A He said he had been where Davis was,

Rice Dulin. [A letter was offered in evidence on the part of the
Commonwealth, which, after being considered on by the Court, was
finally rejected] Q Were you at the cave when the body of Davis was
found? Mr. Dulin replied that he was. and stated the same that has
already been given on this point. This witness stuted that he was it
Pennington’s the Wednesday before the body was found, and that he
did not see Pennington after until he saw him at Canton. Q Did you
have any conversation with Pennington then? If so. state what he said.
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A T did. Pennington said he was on his way home, from below and
stopped at Mr. Gordon’s. Gordon informed him that the body of
Davis had been found. He immediately rode on, crossed the river on
the bridge ut Hopkinsville, and when he arrived at home discovered
there were persons there ; that he dismounted at the gate, stood by his
horse and lListened to the conversation, then left. He met McEdson tke
next day, and crossed the Mississippi at island number one. That he
was taken in the Indian country, on the direct route to California.

Cross examined. Q. Do you remember what Pennington said he
went below for? A Idonot. Q Wasnot Pennington in irons when
landed at Canton? A He was. Q Did.not Pennington say, in this con-
versation at Canton, that he told Gordon that he would go up and see
about the reports? A Ido not recollect that he did. Q. Did not Pen-
nington say that he could have easily shaken off his handcuffs and es-
caped, had he wished to doso? A He did not. Q What kind of
roads are they about White Plains? A Very rough—it is a rough
country. Q. How is the road from Mrs. McFaddin’s to the cave? A.
Very rongh, Q At the meeting house do not roads lead off in diffen-
ent directions? A  Yes. Q Is’'there nota field on the left, as you ge
from the spring to the church?? A There is.

Examination in chief resumed. Q Was not Pennington raised in
the neighborhood of the cave? A Mrs, McFadden’s farm formerly be-
longed to Pennington’s futher. Q. Where does Pennington’s family
ive? A Near the Elkton road. Q How far is Mrs. McFaddin’s
from Hopkinsville? A Seventeen or eighteen miles.

Cross examined. Q. Has Pennington lived in that neighborhood
for some time? A Not for some years.

Examined in chief. Q Did you not hear of Pennington’s being in
the neighborhood frequently? A Yes, I have heard of it.

Langley Bell, recalled.  Q By defendant. Where was it Pen-
nington proposed to give you Bradley’s and Compton’s notes? A At
Pennington's house.

George Bradley, sworn. Q. Did you know Davis? A Idid. Q.
Was Davis at muster? A I saw him there, but did not see him and
Pennington together, QDo you not live near Davis? A I do, Q
You frequently saw Davis? A Yes. Q Do yon know that Dayis sold
his property to Pennington? A I know he sold one horse to him., Q
Was not the stock at Davig’ on the muster day? A I sawa colt and
calf there on tnat day. At muster, Dayis asked me to feed the colt for
him. Q Do you know when the property wus taken away? A Tado
not, it was there after the disappearance of Davis. Q You say Davis
askea vou to feed the colt—did he tell you he would not be at home that
night? A Yes, he said he would come home the next day, Saturday,
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Cross examined. Q Did Davis say he was not going home tl
night? A He said he could not go home. (L Did you see Penningt
at muster? A Yes. Q What kind ot a hat did he wear? A I think
was a black fur hat., Q What time did you leave? Q. About two hoy
by sun. ;

Examined in chief. Q Did Davis say why he could not go hom
Q He said Pennington was to pay him some money, and that he w
gomng with him to old man Pennington’s to get it, and could not g
home. Q. Did you ever see Davis afterr s Never, unless it wi
Davis I saw at the cave.

Franklin Webb, sworn. Q. Did you know Davis? A Yes, Iw
acquainted with him and bought corn of lnifn_ Q. Did you ever «
Pennington at Davis’? A When I went for the corn I saw Pennin
ton there. Q When wasthis? A In May. Q  Didyou ever he
Davis say anything about leaving the country? A Yes, I heard by
say he was going to leave. Q. Did you ever go there again wh
Davis was at home? A I went there twice, but did not see Davis.
gsaw stock in the lot.

Cross examined, Q. When did you see Davis last? , A. It wasl
fore muster. Q. By the commonwealth. When was it that you g
the corn? A. Two or threée weeks after the death of Davis® wife.

W. S. Compton, recalled. Q. When did Davis’ wife die?
About the 25th or 26th of April. Q. Had Davis sold his property I
fore the muster. A. FHe was trying to sell it up to the day of the my
ter. Q. By ajuror. You say you asked Pennington when he last sa
Davis—what was his reply? A. I asked Pennington when he s
Davis, and he said at the exhibition ; that Davis had gone to the neig
borhood of Clarksville. I think he said he saw Davis the day of il
exhibition.

Cross examined. Q. You saw Davis’ colt at Pennington’s?
Yes. Q. Were there not a great many other things on the oat fie
at-Davis? A, After the body was found the fence was thrown dow
and everybody’s stock went in.

Examined by Commonwealth. /Q. When was it Penningtcn sz
he saw Davis at the exhibition. A. About the 15th of May, aft
muster. Pennington said he saw him on the day of the exhibition, ¢
at the exhibition.

On the cross examination of Rice Dulin, the following evident
was omitted by mistake. Q. Did not Pennington say he was afraid
the people? A. No. He said he had a copy of the Governor’s pro
lamation in his'hat, showed the description to several persons, acknowl
edged that he was the man, and offered to come back with any persd
who would share the reward with him, Q. Did not - Penning on si
that he had written to a lawyer in Hopins to defend him? A, Na
Pennington said he weas glad to get back and was not afraid of a fu
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trial. - Q. Did he not say at Canton he left through fear of Robinson’s
court? A. Robinson’s court was not spoken of,

. D. S. Hays sworn. Q. State whether the conversation with Pen- b
'13_1L"f'- nington at Canton was or not voluntary, and what hesaid? A. It was
_h“”' yoluntary. Penningtoa sat for half an hour before he commenced talk-
Rl ing freely. After speaking of Texas, I asked him where he had been
below when he had heard of the apprehension ot Cisney and the find-
ing of the body of Davis. He said he had been to the iron works, and
he w stopp: d at Gordon's, where - he learned what had occurred. That he
NOLAW then went on home, discovered men there, took a fresh horse, crossed

ne the

hom

It Wi he Mississippi at island number one on the 22d of July, went to Mis-
I souri, and there saw Cooper. Q. Was any attempt made to take :
» * " pennington before the body was found? A. Not before—after the '

VeI S body was found Pennington was looked for. Q. Where did Pen- i F'

TN i gton say that he was taken? A. Neir the Cross Timbers, fifty or 4

Lt sixty miles from the Rocky mountains.V He said that he had gone far-

:.d‘ 'L.' ther west than the place he first stopped at in his flight, in the Indiun
whe

! country, beyond where.counties are organized. |/
Vis. * :
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Cross examined. Q. Did not Pennington say he was taken nes
the Wachitta?> A. I have no recollection of it, but remember he sajj
fifty or sixty miles from the Rocky Mountains, at Cross Timbers, whey
he had gene to make a race. ~—

Rice Dulin, recalled. The witness drew the above figure y
poinE—out the relative situation of the cave, muster ground, Mrs, Mg
Faddins, Pennington’s house and Hopkinsville.

From the cave to Mrs. McFaddin'’s plain road, about six miles
Frc m McFaddin’s to muster ground abotit six miles, and from musty
ground to cave about six miles. A path from McFaddins to Penning
ton’s brother-in-law runs near the cave. Q. Was not Penningto
raised in this neighborhood? A, He was raised at Mrs. McIFaddin’
place, and often went to that place to his brother-in-law’s. ). Di
Pennington say he was taken above or below cross Timbeis? A, Tan
not positive whether he ssid above or below, it was about 55 from the
highlands, or rise of the Rocky Mountains. { Some one of the compans
asked Pennington how far from this place; he smiled and said near)
out of the world.) -

Cross examined. Q. Did not Pennmington state that ne was take
near Wachitta. A. He did not. Q. Did he say bhe saw many person
he knew? A. Yes. Q. Did hesay he rode with Dr. Bourland? A
No. Q. Did he say he voted? A. Yes. Q. Did he not say he coul
hove shaken off the hand-cuffs? A. He said nothing about hand-cuffs

James H. Sperlin sworn. . Q. Were you acquainted with Davi
A. Iwas, Q. Did you see him and Pennington at muster? A.
saw him at muster, but not with Pennington; 1 was at the cave whe
the body was taken out.

Cross examined. Q. Was the boly much disfigured. Q. Som
of the teeth were out but I would have known it.

Examination in chief. Q. Do yon recollect the clothes that Dayi
wore? A. I do not, but feel pretty sure the hat in court was Dayvis

Dr. H. Hopson sworn, Q. Were you acquainted with Davis? A
I was not. ©. Were you at the cave when the body was taken oul
A. I was. One side of the skull was gone, but saw no bruise or cul
on the body.

Cross examined. Q. Did you see ony trace of blood outside th
cave?! A. I didnot. -©, What was the condition of the body? A
The upper part of the face was gone, the hair matted = with - gore—ds
composition had to some extent taken place. Q. Do you think th
body was in a state to be recognized? A. I think it might have bee
though the face and head were a good deal disfigured.

W. S. Compton, recalled. 0. What kind of a coat did Dayi
wear? A. A dark jeans, somewhat darker than mine.

Cross examined, Q. Did you see Emsley IHenderson at muste
A, Yes. Q. Was he not very drunk? A, e was about as drink
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[ as usual, but knew pretty well how to navigate.)

Examination in chief. Q. Would you believe Henderson on
oath, A. I would. Q. Was he not sober enough to know what he
was about?. A, He was not so much in liquor but what he knew all
about what he was doing.

Cross examined. Q. Does not Henderson generally get so drunk
at public places as not to know what he does. A. I have never seen
him so drunk as to be incapable of knowing what he was about. Q.
Did you not suggest to the Commonwealth’s attorney to call you to
testify as to this? A. I was called by the Commonwealth’s attorney,
and did not come round to the witnesses’ box at my own snggeslioh.
Q. Have you not talked with th: witnesses about these matters? A. I
have talked with some to find out what they would prove.

John W, Grissam, sworn, Q Were you acquainted with Davi-?
A, T was. Q. Did yousee h'm at muster on the gth of May? A. If I
saw him it was just as he was about to leave; I did not seethim in t e
crowd. Q. Did yousee Penninglon therer A. Yes, I had business
with him. 'Q When did you next see Pennington? A. At the exhi-
bition. Q. About what time was it when you last saw him at the
muster? A. About two or two and a half hours by sun. Ee¢ said he
was about leaying., Q.  State what you know about Penniningtn and
Davis being together? A. About this time I saw Dayis in a co npany
of four or five. Pennington being one of the company. Who tle others
were, I don’t know, They were just above the spring. I called Pen-
nington back, and the others went on. Q. Were they on their hors:s?
A They were not, hut were advancing towards a grove of saplings on
the right side ot the spring, in the direction of the meeting-house.

Cross examined. Q° Did you see Henderson at the muster? A 1]
did. Q Was he not drunk? A T thought he was drinking.

Examination in chief. Q Was he too drunk to recognize any
person? A I suppose not.

Cross examined. Q- What kind of country is it in the neighbor-
hood of the cave? A Very rough,

‘Examination in chief. Q Is not the cave on the way to old Pen-
nington’s, Alonzo’s father? A It is pretty much on t :e route, about
a quarter to tne right.

Cross examined. Q Isit out of the way to Mrs. McFadden’s to
go by the church? A Not much, half a mile or mile, though the route
is frequently traveled.

Thomas J. Edwards, called. Q Who were. the persons you saw
together? A John McFadden, Cisney, Pennington, Shuffle, and a man
with a straw hat on. Q. What time was this? A About an hour, or
hour and a half, by sun. Q What were they doing? Talking together,
Our horses were hitched neur together. Q. What kiud of a looking man
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was the one who had the straw hat'on? A He was about thirty year
old; rather heavy set, and had on, I think, a dark jeans coat, T.am not
positive as to the coat. :

W. S. Compton; called. Q. What kind of a man was Davs? A
He was about thirty years old, well formed, rather chunky.

Cross examined, Q How tall was he?- A About 5 feet. g ir ches,
I think.

Oliver Mitchum, sworn. Q. State if you'saw Davis at the muster,
A I did. Q. Were you at the cave when his body was taken out, if s,
state whether the clothes were not the same. A I saw the body taken
out of the cave. { He had on the same shirt as at the muster, a pleated
bosom, with pearl buttons. )

Cross examined. Q How do you know it was the same? A |
noticed his clothes, at the muster, Q. by Juror. Were thectherclothes
the same? A The hat and coat were the same.

John Kelley, called. Q. State what conversation you had with
Pennington about Davis. A. I had-two conversations with Penning.
ton, ( In the first he said Davis was in Clarksville plastering, I re
marked that he had got smart to change from a rough stone mason to
plasterer.) At the second conversaticn Pennington told me that Davis
was at a furnace below Eddyville at work., Q Wle1 was this? A. In
June. Pennington said fhat Davis was afraid Bradley would come
upon him because he had not a good title for the negro wench he bought
of him. Q Where did this conversation take place? A. In the Dutch
grocery.

Cross examined. Q. Did Pennington say he saw Davis in Clarks.
ville. A, No, he said Davis was there. Q Who commenced this cen:
versation? A Idid. Q Was it before « r after tho budy was found?
A It was before

W. S. Compton, called. Q Did you ever give a note to Davis? A
I gave, I think, two notes to Simon Davis, one was nearly if not all
paid. Q. Were there any credits on it? A 1 do not know whether
it was credited. Here the evidence on the part of the prosecution
closed, and was followed by witnesses called in for the prisoner.

FOR THE DEFENDANT.

William Wicks, sworn. Q_ Are you acquainted with the muster
ground and neighborhood? A Yes, the land i= mine, and I have lived
there many years. (@ Is not the road by the spring the one traveled in
going from the muster'ground to Mrs. McFaddin’s? A It is a very
good course, and the one usually traveled.

Cross examined, Q Which rcad would your prefer? A The one
by the spring., It turns a little after two or three miles, Q. Which is
the best way to old Pennington’s? A The road by the meeting-house.

Abner Coeper, sworn.. Q Were you at Mrs. McFaddin’s when
Pennington camer A I was, and had gone fo bed, Lut got up to put

his h
night
came
that .
more
ningl
ton h
Fadd
1o co
tell €
an. he
abou!
[
Abot
tell y
Caus
the n
Penn
that

grou
sprin
ton |
vou

way
ning
A I
from
you §
A ]
Did

Q 1
Q. A\
ride

Abo
mile
A

musl

A

Do :
I san
Q.

ohul
you




ear
| 1ot

- A
hes,

ster,
If FD‘_
aken
ated

=7

thes

with
Hing.
re-
o4
bavis
In
O €
l.l;_']it
utch

1rks-
cen-
and?

A
ot all
sther
1tion

nster
lived
2 in
very

one
ch is
Jise,
yhen
) put

43.

his horse away. Q What time sas it? A About two hours in: the
night. Q Was supper over! - A, It was after supper awhile when he
came, = Q. Did you not go to bed earlier than usual? A. I don’t know
that I did—1I think it was the usual bed time. Q_Did Pennington have
more than one horse? A I did not see but one. Q' When did Pen-
nington leave? A The next morning, after breakfast. Q Did Penning-
ton have a gun? A I don’t recollect that he did.. /Q Did not Mrs. Mc-

Faddin tell you that morning to see Pennington at muster, and ask him
to come and see her? A I don’t recollect that she-did. She told me to
tell Causey to tell Pennington. Q tHow long did you sit up? - A About
an hour or s0.  Q What did Pennington and Mrs. McFaddin talk
about?. A About business.

Cross examined, Q What time did Pennington get there?:: A
About two hours in the night, Q. by a Juryman: “Did Mrs. McFadden
tell you to see Pennington, or te ask Lrum,\ 2 A. She told me to ask
Causey to see Pennington, Q by De fendant: What time did you leave
the muster ground? A About an hour and a half by sun.. Q Did not
Pennington speak of going to Mrs. McFaddin’s? A I don’t recollect
that he did.

William IMacking, sworn. Q What time: did you leave the muster
grmma{‘ A About an hour by sun. Q Did yousee Pennington about the
spring? A 1 .:f.m t recollect of seeing him there. © Did not Penning-
ton have a gun? A He tried to sell me one. ‘Q In- what direction do
vou live from the muster ground? A In the direction of the cave. The
way I went home was as near as any the cave. Q. Did - you: see Pen-
nington on the roads A, I did not [How nearto thecave did you pass?
A In a quarter of a mile, but was not in the road that leads to the cave
from the main road. [ live in half a mile of the cave. Q What rime did
you get home? A About dark. Q. Did you come by the meeting-house’
A 1did. Q Did you see old Pennington at the muster? A Idid. Q
Did he travel the same road? A ‘As far as — four miles from home.
(1 Do you know: of any other road iv.ufing_l; to the cave? A. 1 do not
Q. Was any one in company with.you? A My brether. | Q) Did you
ride slow? A I rode fust.

Cross examined. Q What time was it when you got homer A
About dark. Q How Tar.do you live from the cave! A About half a
mile. Q ls there not another route to the cave than that you travel?
A Icould have gone another rout Q Were there many persons at
muster? A A great many. Q ])ul you see many hats like this there
A Not many.

James Robinson, sworn (Q Were you al muster? A1 was Q.
Do }'l‘l;-l.‘l-_TEI]D\.'\' [saiah or Isham Shuffle? A I do. Q Was he there? A
I saw him there. Q Where does Shuflie live? A Iicum.‘ my  house,
Q. Did you see Cisney at muster? A I saw him passmy hause with
Shuffle, but don’t recollect seeing him at muster. & AVhat time did
you get home from muster? A About dark ora little befure. U How
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far do you live from muster ground? A One mile and a half. © Dj
you see Cisney and Shuffle as they went back from muster? A I dj
not see them pass by my house. @ Were there not strong suspicion
against Cisney and Shuffle? A There were. Cisney was arrested ap
put in jail for the same offence. Q Were you with those who arreste
Cisney? A Iwas not. Q. Who brought Cisney to the cave? ‘A (Mill
Utley, Compton, Gregory, Word and others arrested him and brough
him to the cave.) Q Didn’t they turn Cisney loose? No. Q Did yo
see Pennington at muster? A I can’t say positively. O Didn’t you stog
on your way home? A I went home without stopping. Q Did yo
know Davis and his horse? A I did not know either one. © Did yo
go to see where the horse was fastened in the woods? A 1 did not. Q
Do you remember how Cisney and Shuffle were dressed? A 1 do noy
but think one had on a straw hat.

ohn McFaddin, sworn. Q Did you not go to muster with Pen
nington? A I did, We got there between 10 and -1 o'clock. © Wit
whom dd you return? A With Fritz, Q Did you not return with Pen
nington A [ did not. At what time did you leave muster? A Abouy
two hours by sun. It was about sun set when 1 passed Fritz’s house.

Cross examined. Q Did you not live with Pennington? A 1 did
Q. Did not Pennington take the property of Davis? A I don’t knoy
that he did. By Defendant. Q. Did Pennington bring home witl
him another horse besides that he rode? He brought none but the on
he rode.

Cross examined. @ Did you not state to Mr Dulin that you wer
in the bushes with Cisney, Davis, Pennington and Shuffle? A 1 di
not. Q. Were you not with them? A I was with them when Penning
ton and McFaddin traded horses.

William West, sworn. Q Wese you at muster? A I was. Q Did
you see Dayvis there? A I don’t recollect that I did. Q Are you ac
quainted with Davis? A Not well. Q What time did you leave? A
About an hour by sun. Q. Did you see Pennington the next day? A
The next day he stopped at my shop. Q Did you see Pennington 4
muster? A Idid. @ What time did you get home? A. About sun-set.
Q. Whom did you see with Pennington? A McFaddin. Q. Was no
your horse tied with his? A My horse was tied above the spring. Q Dil
you not arrest Cisney and Shuffle. A T was one of the company who
went to do so. A Were you at Canton when Pennington arrived? A
1 was, and heard some conversation between Penningfon and the com:
pany..Q State what Pennington said? A,Pennington told me where
he nad been, what he had seen, eétc. Q Did he not say he would not have
fled but for what Fad occurred with regard to arresting him? A T heard
him say he discovered men at his house when he got home, and heard
what they were talking about.

Cross examined, Q. Where did Pennington say he was, or had
been? A He said he was beyond the limits of Texas, where there wers
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no counties. Q by Defendant. Did Pennington not say he was taken
in Arkansas? A I did not hear him say so. Q. by Defendant. Did he
not say he had bought land 1n Texas? A I did not hear him say so.

A. Cooper, cailed. Q. How long had you been at home when
Pennington came? A Aboutan hour. Q How far is it from the cave to
Mrs. McFaddin’s? About six miles.

John W. Grissom, called. Q. What route did you go home? A By

McKinney’s Mill. Q Where do you live? A On the Greenville road,
Q Would not any route from the muster ground go by the church? A It
would. Does not Pennington generally weara white hat? A 1 have
seen him wear one, but do not remember what kind he wore that day.

Winn Compton, called. Q Were you at drill on Thursday before the
muster? A I was. Did you know Davis' mare? He had a sorrel mare
with a bald face. Q When did vou see her last? A Not since the mus-
ter. Q.Did you not go to arrest Shufie? A, I carried the writ.

D. 5. Hays, called. Did you issue a warrant for Shufle? A Yes, I
issued one to arrest him. Q Did vou not hear threats of violence made
aguinst Pennington? A Not before Er:llmngtnn left. Q You heard
none? A I heard none. Q. Did you not hear it said they would hang
him if he was caught. A Not before he left. Q When did Pennington
leave? A I thiuk it was about a weck after they began to search for
him. Q And you heard no threats against Pepnington? A Those per-
sons in custody were spoken of a =r-:..o-.1 deal, not so much was said about
Pennington.

Cross examined, Q Did youever go to look for Penningtonz A 1
went with a company one night to Pennington’s house about a week
after the body of Davis was found. Q At Canton when did Penning-
ton say he left? A He said he left on the night he heard that Davis’

bodv was found.

- OX0 e

Here the counsel for the prisoner remarked that he believed he was
through, and the witnesses on behalf of the defendant closed. Were we
disposed to hazard an opinion on the case at this stage of the proceed-
ngs, our attention would be arrested by rthe fact that (l"cnnm}_{ton ad-
Lll-Lt‘Ll such feeble and mr:al;?w testimony to rebut the strong circum-
stances connecting him with the murder of Davis. ) It is true that he
was closely confined, and more limited as to time than the prosecution,
so that he could not be expected to have in attendance witnesses to re-
but the presumptions raised; but notwithstanding these unfaverable
circumstances it must be admitted the evidence ..e adduced was utterly
weak and unsatisfactoryv.  Without commenting on or classifying the
testimony, pro or con, we proceed to give a copy of the letrer the Court
fL‘jLthd as improper evidence. The letter purports to have been writ-
ten by W, C. Gray to the Rev. Wm. B. Pitts, and was found o tie person
of Pennington when apprehended:

L
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Curistian County, KENTUCKY, Nov. 9, 1845,

W, B. Pirrs—Sir, in answer to your letter in regard of. repor;
concerning L. Pennington, in this country, they have been very  bad
etc., he gotin a difficulty with what is called the Clark band, and lef
this country in June. Some time in July there was aman by the nam:
of B, F. Cisney, taken up on suspicion of killing a man by the name (|
Davis, and swore said Pennington took his mare, and carried her g
Illinois, and turned her out on 2 prairie; 'where he had other horse
That has all proved to be lies. Cisney carried nag to Gallatin, and
sold her for a_ double barrelled shotgun, and $25 in cash, which has bee
proved since, and since Cisney has been in jail, he's professed to gd
religion, and sent for a preacher to pray for him, and cleared Penning
ton, and implicated a man by the name of James_ Mgcldson; they ar
both in jail now, and there was one of Davis’ pistols found 1n the hands
of McIdson; the people has been dreadfully excited against Penningtol
here, and did petition the Governor to bit a reward for him, besidy
others, but it haschanged by all impartial men, Davis was found aboy
30 miles from Pennington. As regards Davis having land, that is fals|
he never owned any land, but the same report was herein the adjoining
county, and every other report that could be. He has very strong eng
mies and very strong friends. There were 32 of his enemies that hs
killed old man Shepperd and his son and wounded another little so
yery bad, and crippled the old woman, and they are all indicted [
murder, agd report say all have left, though if Pennington comes back
they will law him I expect. Yours, etc.,

Wi .G, GRAY.

[The above letter was forged by Pennington, |

O

HoprinsviLLEE, Ky., May 6, 1540,
Mr, M'LARNING—

Dear Sir:—A rumor has reached us that erroneous impressions u
abroad respecting the trial and conviction of Pennington. We ald
learn by our exchange papers that the general opinion, as formed fron
the evidence reported and published by our neighbor of the ¢ People]
Press,” is that he, Pennington, was convicted on insufficient  grounds
As you well know we were present during the whole proceedings, and
no doubt was left on our mind of his guilt; for we heard all the testi
mony, and a stronger array or more unbroken series of circumstance
unfavorable to his innocence, can hardly be conceived. Weare alsoin
formed that your speech was inaccurately reported, and that you hay
since that time written it out.

To relieve the public of its errors, and remove from our community
the prejudicial impressions spoken of above, we respectfully solicit the
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MSS. for publication in our paper this week. Your compliance will
aid the cause cf truth, and confer an obligation on
Your friend and servant,
Epitor GAZETTE.

Y S

. HorkinsviLLE, May 7, 1846.
ani@ EpiTOR OF THE GAZETTE—

15 bL‘t:_‘, - - - z
to: pd ch:lr Sir :‘—In compliance with your note of yesterday, 1 her_ewuh
i furnish you with a copy of the Speech delivered by me on the trial of
ST Pennington. Though condensed it 1s almost verbatim as delivered. It
 hand@Y2s written by me imediately after the trial, with the view not of being
inetolpublished in a newspaper, but if a narrative should hereafter be pub-
besidd lished of the trial, that it might be ready, if I should be requested to

TR _fun_u.uh it, for such publication. The sketch as reported for the “Peo-
o t':i!-:. ple’s Press, was nothing but hasty notes taken whilst it was delivered,

joining consequently meagre and inaccurate. Yours, elc,,

1 end Joun M’'LArNING,

1at  ha

tle 'sof

ted o GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY :

& back

H———

It now devolves upon me, in the discharge of my duty as attorney
v for the Commonwealth, to submit for your consideration some comments
2 on the testimony, and to direct your attention to such portions of the

law as may be necessary and applicable to this case. 1 do not profose
to euter into detail in reviewing the testimony of each witness; for
§ even were I desirous, and considered it material so to do, the arduous
and protracted labors which I have had already to perform as attorney
for the Commonwealth, in the trial of several other important cases
since the commencement of this term, have almost rendered me phys-
ons af ically incompetent.

Tocald The evidence against the accused is wholly circumstantial, but of
d fros@ Such a character, and composed of the testimony of so many separate
eople witnesses to distinct and independent facts, all pointing and converg-
rounddf "g so unerringly to one common centre in such a manner as to leave
os. andl Do rational grounds for doubt of the prisoner being the perpetrator of
o testif this most foul and diabolical murder.

\stance The secrecy with which the most enormous crimes are committed
SR m:ik_us their punishment most frequently depend upon circumstantial

u havl testimony. Murders, robberies burglaries, and all the astrocious crimes

that make up the long, dark and bloody catalogue in the annals of hu-
munit@ man guilt, are mostly, if not always, perpetrated in secret,(where no
it thf buman eye can witness the deed, and in such a manner, as it is thought
that no human scrutiny can ever detect and establish the guilt of the

Wil IRl
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&

offender.)If circumstantial testimony was not held by the law competey
for the conviction of offenders, then would the most terrible and soy
revolting crimes go forever unpunished.

The law regards such testimony as has been adduced on this tris
against the prisoner, as of the most conclusive and satisfactory charag
ter. A single witness may commit perjury, a few witnesses may be i
concert and combine together to swear falsely to the same fact and co
ruptly Sustain each other; but circumstances so numerous and indepen
dent each one of the other, as in this case, could not be fabricated ; ng
two witnesses in this long chain of testimony testify to the same fact
except the discovery of the dead body. There could be no conced
amongst such a cloud of witnesses, yet all the circumstances and factg
detailed by so many different witnesses taken together, are w ondertully
lhumomoua, and irresistably force the mind to the conclusion of t the
guilt of the prisoner.

In this case, there is no possibility of punishihg the offender, onl

by circumstantial evidenee, The perpetrator of the foul and blood
deed sought the hour of darkness for its cover, and to keep it foreve
concealed, the dead and mangled body of Davis was thrown into a cay
ernous pit in the earth, in a remote and unfrequented forest. This i
one of the most foul and diabolical murders that ever shocked mankind,
or ever disgraced the calendar of crime all this array of pewerful an
overwhelming testimony, without a single shade of circumstances
raise a doubt in his favor, point to this man as guilty of this mod
damning offence against the laws of God and man.

Gentlemen, to make your pathway of duty stiil more clear, in te
application of the testimony and that there may not Le a shadow of doubl
on the minds of the most scrupulous and conscientous, of the compe
tency of circumstantial or presumptive evidence to warrant convictios
in criminal cases, I will read you from from the law of evidence
(Starkie, vol 1.)

“The consideration of the nature of circumstantial evibence, and
of the principles on which it is founded, merits the most profound at
tention. .It is essential to the well-being at least; if not the very ex
istence of civil society, that it should be understood that the secrecy
with which crimes are committed will not ensure impunity to the ol
fender, At thesame timeit is to be emphatically remarked, that in no
case and upon no principle can the policy of preventing crimes and pro-
tecting society, warrant any inference which is not founded on the
most full and certain conviction of the truth of the fact independently
of the nature of the offence and of all extrinsic considerations whatsos
ever. Circumstantial evidence is allowed to prevail to the conviction
of effenders, not because it is nec essary and politic that 1t should be re:
sorted to,butbecause, 1n its ownnature it is capable of produingthehighest
degree of moral ¢ LrLiml} in its application. Fortunately, for the infer
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1peten ests of society, crimes, especially those of great enormity and violence, :
1 soul can rarely be committed without affording vestiges by which the of-

fender may be traced and ascertained. The measures which he adopts
for his security not infrequently turn out to be the most cogent argu-

"E' trid ments of his guilt.” "
; ]kii: {ientfc‘mcn, the l:].w_jusqt r{::‘!d, which i.t;_ reason and common sense '
e when applied to the evidence fixes the guilt upon the prisoner, and b
n]x >3 makes it your duty to convict him. ( The measures which he adopted }
“iIM for his security, as [ will hereafter show, have turned out to be the most I
:'{ " cogent arguments of his guilt. ) But your verdict must be founded on ;
; Hact the evidence, and if there shall be a reasonable doubt on your minds as :
flm_l“‘:i‘ﬂ' to his guilt, it will be your duty to acquit him ; for you can not believe
L:lt‘c him guilty if you have a rational doubt.  Belief and doubt are utterly :
.(;ﬁ' 1 inconsistent. and can not exist in your minds tegether. During the f
Hlig progress of the examination of the witnesses, attempts were made on ;
s on the part of the counsel for the accused, to bring into this trial something
=5 i.

about the organization and doings of a society in this county, called a
bloody safety society, to account for some of the conduct of the prisoner, and to

forevit show that preat prejudice was excited against him. Gentlemen, in the
2 Civ discharge of your duties as jurors, you can have nothing to do in the
Chis i consideration of the organization and conduct of such a society; nor :
nkind can say anything that was done, or in contemplation to be done by such
ul and@ @ society, have anything now to do in the consideration of the inno- !
ces 1o cence or guilt ol the accused. I have no fellowship with any such so- i
s most cieties, or uny set of men, when their object 1s to take the law in their ;
hands and inflict punishment upon offenders. Such nr;_s;-mizut‘iun.-;. !
in the whether t i;u:,' be ¢ 111u_l regulating companies, or sufety societies, are be- |
F doubt hind the times in which we live ( 'hey may be scmewhat adapted to
>ompe: a half civilized, barberous state of society; lln,} may suit such a state
viction of society as that which exists where .i’l:nnington was found, beyond :
dencel the outposts of civilization ; but they do not suit this enlightened day in i
Kentucky.) But, gentlemen, there is no evidence that Pennington, or
v and any one L-i-u had any thing to fear from this society; there is no evi-
nd ats dence conducing to show that this organization was for any other pur- 5
ry ex pose, than for t]u, apprehension of offenders in aid of the law, .md
ecrecy and having them brought to Jllwilt by a judicial trial. And i1s it not :
he of- praise- x\mtln , is it not patriotic, for private citlzens, to rally around !
in no the standard of the majesty of the laws of their country, and bring of- ,
1d pro- fenders to justice. :
yn the When great crimes are committed in secrecy and in darkness, 1t re- {
dently quires ;-:}LlI';lUI'(Ii']'lI",'k,\'l..‘l"[iﬂ:li-&, something more than Iinding an indict-
shatso- ment b\ a gri and _]Lll“} or the lwumg of a warrant h} a JLIH[ILL of the
siction peace, to detect and apprehend the offender; it requires the concentra- ;
| be re-f@@ ted zeal and energy of the people to do it. :
g hest In this case ashocking murder has been committed ; the people in
inter: the vicinity became excited, and aroused to bring the murderer to jus-
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fien. Tt was neeescary that they should meet together to consult Low
ty find the dead budjfnﬁclaq)prchcn(ithu offender. A single man could
not achieve these objects, and the acting separately and individually by
each man would have insured hopes of but iittle s iccess. It required
deliberation and time and money, and it was natur.l, right and proper
for the people to a:s mble together; it was their duty as good citizens,
who wis' ed to uphold the law and suppress crime to do so. It may
have been in bad taste, when so assembled, to style themselves a soci ty
by name, but that can cut no figure in this trial.

There is no proof that there ever wasany intention to inflict sum-
mary punishment on Pennington or any other offender by this society,
when appreheaded, and no such intention-ever did exist, and no proof
can now or hereafter be brought forward to establish it.

From-the conversation between Mr. Buckuer and Mr. Dulin while he
was giving his testimony, it appears they are both members of this so-
ciety. and their character forbids the idea that they should take the
law in their own hands, and inflict violence on persons charged with
crime, and when apprehenced,—that they would become the murders
of a murderer. ( For, gentlemen, taking the lile of the greatest malefuc-
tor, without the authority ef law,is murder—it is murder in heaven
and on earth—it is murder by the laws of God and man.) 1 would not
have the blood of the foulest murderer on my conscience for all the
treasures mortal climes afford, nor would the men who composed this
so-called society. I know them, and know better,Y” Their object was
to catch, not to kill or hurt a hair of the head of Pennington or any of
his accomplices in crime, but to bring them to answer at the bar of
public justice for their offences.

When objection was made in the progress of the examination of
the witnesses to anything being said about Cisney, Mr. Buckner took
occasion to say that Iappeared to be very careful'cf Cisney’s character;
that I seemed to consider myself the guardian of his character. He
surely could not be in earnest in making such an mmsinuation. I would
suggest to the gentleman, that neither he nor myeell are very skillful in
the use of sarcasm, repartee or ridicule; and when we attempt to use
them they appear in our hands awkwardly, very much_ like borrowed
weapons that we don’t how to handle, and the less we affect to use
them the better we will appear. { Cisney is indicted with Pennington,
for aiding and abetting in this murder, and I objected to the questions
because they were irrelvant and improper in this trial, and would tend
to prejudice the public mind, and disqualify men present from being
competent jurors for the trial of Cisney, if he should hereafter be ar-
raigned upon this indictment.\

NIt appears from the testimony, that Davis lived near Penuington,
alone, without family or friends, his wire being dead; that he intended
to break up house-keeping and leave the country as soon as he could
sell his property. Pennington, with all the subtlety of a fiend, had in-
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gratiated himself in Davis’ favor and made him believe that

how he was his best friend by artfully winning his confidence. He had
ould Davis trailing after him at his heels from place to place, while he was
y by scheming and contriving his murder and robbery. Whilst poor Davis
tived was following him and looking up to him as his kind and generous-
oper hearted friend, he was coolly deliberating upon the means of his mur-
C1S, der. The soul revolts and sickens at the contemplation of this brutal
may homicide. Pennington’s heart must be b;tscr than that of the imp of
1ty the dark regions of the everlastingly damned, or he never would have
murdered this man under such circumstances. W
SLm- N~ Davis was seen with Pennington at different times and places
1ety, shortly before the gth of May, the day of the muster, on which he was
roof killed. It is proved by Bradley, that he was with Pennington in town
about a week or ten days before the muster. Pennington said he had
le be bought Davis’ property, or rather he agreed totake it, but it was agreed
S 80~ that Bradley should have the negro by giving Pennington $20 for his
> the bargain. Bradley agreed, in Pennington’s presence, to pay Davis $:50
with on the next day for the negro. There 1s no proof t!mt Pennington ever
rders paid Davis anything for his property, and it matters uot whether he
efuc- paid for it or not, it is all the same, for by his murder and robbery he
aven would get the money back if he had paid for it, and if he had not, he
1 not would get the property without it. Pennington did not know, so far as
1 the the testimony goes, otherwise than that Bradley paid Davis on the next
| this day according to the contract $150 for the negro. It is snown by the
was testimony of Kelly that Davis was with Pennington in town
ny of the day before the muster; that Davis then had money, and that Pen-
ir of nington seemcd to be with him wheresoever he went, except to Kelly’s
house he was with him ou the street, he was with him at the Dutch
yn of grocery, and they left town together. }—
took Then it was that Pennington was maturing his fiend-like plans for
cter; Davis’s murder and roubery. Under friendship’s holy garb he was lur-
He mg the blind, unconscious victim onto his awltul doom. Nothing was
vould wanting but a fit opportunity of decoying him to this dismal cave, tor
ful in the winding up of this inferral tragedy.
) use Davis had sold his negro and had the monev. Pennington could 2
owed prove by Bradley thut he had bought his property, and it was known
O Use that it was his intention to leave the country as soon as he could dispose
:g_lm!- ot his property, which it would appear was now done. Ilow euasy
st1ons could Pennington then imagine that no inquira would be made about
tend him when killed and securely hid in this cave?
being ( The cave is an obscure out-of-the-way place, in the neighborhood
be ar- where Pennington lived in early life, and near the residence of
one of his brothers-in law. He knew all about it, for it wus near the
1gton, faumiliar haunts of his childhood, and the spot where he was raised.
ended@ The cruel and bloody deed once performed and the dead body cast into
Ci‘i}l}!d this perpendicular cavern, in a solitary place, in an unfrequented forest,
ad 1ns
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hern:ghtlnlqgtne it never could be discovered and he might be safe
in the possession of Davis’s property and money, as nolhnlg would be
said about his disappearance ; he being friendless add obscure, it would
be readily supposed that he had left the country in pursuance
of his prewc:-uq]}r expressed intention. }

Jt is absolutely established by the testimony, that Pennington and
Davis were at the muster the day on swhich he was killed, Edwards
testifies that late in the evening, an hour and a half or two hours by
sun, he saw Pennington, Cisney,and two or three others that he did not
know, not being acquainted with Davis, out fsome distance from the
crowd, 1n the woods ora thick growth of small timber, Penningtcn
was talking in a low voice, with a min the witness did not know, who
had on a hat like this produced here in court, and proved to be the hat
that was found in the cave with the dead body. The witness states,
that the man had on a jeans coat, such as was on the body in the cave,
and that he was a man of about the age and size Comp‘on describes
Davis to have been. who knew him well., Grissem states, that he
knew Davis when he saw him: then on the evening of the muster
(about the same time spoken of by Edwards)he saw Penuington, Da-
vis and two or three ‘other men, to him unknown, - going
from the spring where the crowd was assembled, to the place desig-
nuted by Edwads, where he saw them in the woods. Having business
with Pennington as a constable, he called to him, and he turned back,
but ths otters went on. Pennington soon slipped from him in the
crowd and he saw him no more. The evidence of Edwards and Gris-
sem taken together  clearly identifies Davis to be the man Pen-
nington and his accomplice Cisney haa out in the bushes as seen by
Edwrads. Henderson testifies that he saw Pennington and Davis
start off together about an hour by sun in the direction towards the
cave. The connsel for the prisoner has attempted to discredit the tes-
timony of Henderson, by making it appear that he was drunk on that
day. Henderson admits that he had been drinking pretty freely, but
says he was not drunk, aad knew what he was about—he knew Pen-
nington and Davis, and everybody else as well “as he ever did.  But if
he wasdrunk that heis not drunk now, and can it be supposed that
man will swear to a fact when sober, that may have happened thu
he was drunk and incapable of Lnowmg whether it took place or not.
Henderson tells you that his seeing Pennington and Davis ride off to-
gether, was revived in his recollection by hearing that Penningtn was
suspectee of having killed Davis, Other wieuestes who were exam-
ined to discredit the testimony of Henderson, say that they saw him ut
the muster, and that he was drinking, but not drunk, and that they
would believe him on oath., His l.L‘leITI(}} stands unimpeached, and you
are bound to give him credrt asa witness.

C[t is five or six miles trom the muster ground to the cave, and
about the same distance from the cave to Mrs. McFadden’s where Pen-
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nington staid all night, and also about the same distance from the mus-
ter groud to Mrs. McFadden’s. Y The course from the muster ground
to Pennington’s residence is in an almost opposite direction from that
of the cave and Mrs. McFadden’s.) Davis told a witness that he was
going that night to old man Pennington’s with the prisoner to get
some money, and it is proved that the most direct route from the
muster ground to old man Pnnington’s is closé by this cave. The
witnesses state that Penuington could have gotton to the cave about
dark from the time he left the muster ground, and in about the same
ime to Mrs. McFadden’s had he gone there from the muster ground. Y
But, instead of g’t_—lling__{ to Mrs., McFadden’s ].J}' dark, he did" net get
tiere until two hours after night. e had, from the time he left the
muster ground, about an hour to get with Dfawis to the cave, and
sbout two hours after he got there to commit the murder and gét to
Mrs. McFadden’s at the time he he did in the night. |/~

Was there ever a more plain case of guilt made out by tetimony
direct or circumstantial If inncent, he has the pgwer ot doing away
with all this powerful array of testimony aguinst him by showing
wherg he was between the time he lett the muster ground and his arri-
val at Mrs. McFudden’s in the night. Itis within his knowledge and
his alone, and he is bound to account for this interval, or the evidence
is conclusive against him, It will not avail him to say he cannot do
0, by reason of the length of time between the day of the murder and
his trial.  He khew he was suspected of the murder shortly after th
muster, and then, when 1t was fresh in his recollection with whom he
left and where he was all this time, if innoent he could have relieved
himself of the charge. He can prove by one of the McFaddens that he
went with him te the muster ; by an other that he swapped horses, and
was to get from him oil of spike to cure the horse of some disorder; he
could prove that Mrs. McFadden had told some person to tell him that.
sheg wanted to see him about bdcoming her security as puurdian for her -
ctildren ; he can prove that he was at west's blacksmith shop on the
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nekt morming—he can prove all these trfling and unimportanteiréum- )/

stances, but he cannot prove that he was even seen after he left thev”
muster ground that evening ; he cannot prove where he was from an
hwur by sun til two hours in the night, when he arrived at Mrt. McFud-
den’s a distance of a bout six miles from the muster ground.
Pennington had his plans as well laid and matured, us they could
be by a wicked and depraved mind, hardened in crime, for the murder
ind robbery of Davis. That the object was robbery is clearly shown
by the pocket book of the murdered man being found near the mouath
of the cave, rffled of its contents, and his property being, in a few days,
tuken possession of by Penaington. It may be contended that he
bought 1t ; but that is holy immeterial, for by the death of Davis he
would get it without paying for it; or it he had pad for it, by his
murder and robbery Pénnington got the money he paid for it back again.
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But, it is in proof that Davis, on the day of the muster, was trying
to sell some of his property. Bradley’s evidence only shows that Pep
_nington agreed to buy it, and not that he han bought and paid for it,
The prisoner was suspected guilty of the murder in a shog
time after the muster, and his conduct then, together with all previcy
ly combined circumstauces against him, produce the highest degree of
of moral certainty of his guilt ( Inthe language of the law read to you
the very measure he adopted for his security turned out to be the mos
cogent arguments of his guilt,) He fabricated one false statemen
after another, to avert enquiry and allay the public mind. He told
different persons different tales about Davisl) Guilt stared him in the
face at every step, and he couldn’t tell the same tale twice. It wa
not remorse of conscience that made him falter; it was his guilty fean
t[ﬁﬁmmudc him incapable of being consistent in hi
falsehoods. He is incapable of feeling the remorse ot conscience as th
wicked one. His giulty fears became auxiliary expcnents of his guil
when he attemptnd to occount for tne absense of Davis. His false and
contradictory statements are utterly inconsistent with innocence.
was guilt that made him tell Compton that he had seen Davis since ti
muster,@nd that he was then at work at Clarksville ; Kelly at one tim
that he was in Illinois, at another that he was near Eddyville at work]
Harrison that he seen him somewhere outhe Ohio rivea near Paducaf
working on a steam mill ; old man Vaughan that hs was in [1hnois, an
Bell that he was only keeping out of the way of the sheriff for feard
a writ.) These numerous false and contradicto~y statements were i
offsprings of a guilty mind. They were not made to vindicate hi
ood character from the guilty charge. for that is a property of whid
he had been for many years destitute. His character gave him not o
moments concern, They were made tolull the suspicion against his
and to stop any search from being made for the dead body. For, K
well knew that, circumstances might be powerful and conclusive s
his having murdered Davis, he could not be convicted until the bodj
was found. (He went openly and publicly about from place to plid
till he heard the body was found, and then it was that he fled so fasl
and so far that he did nct stop, as he says, he had almost got outd
the world, 1u the northern part of Texas, within fity or sixty miles i
the rising goounds of the Rockey Mountains, where counties have nd

yet been orgunized.y When he heard the dead body was found, b

knew the proof wold be fuli and complete apainst him, and terrord
punishment seized upon his guilty soul, and he fled under the auspics
of the dark shades of night, leaving father and mother, wife and chit
dren, and all the endearments of life forever, to take up his abode i
unknown regions, with wild beasts and savage men, What strongd
evidence taking all the testimony together, can there be of his guill?
Guilt of the foulest aud most atrocious crime that cver was commiled
by the most wicked and depraved of mankind—robbery and murder.

T
rlll' th
If the
mons
trap-C
fortur
[ am
50 105
canmnce
thies,
gvital
his in
point
18 the
i’nrng_fl'
the p
shock
SAVAD
by th
them
the b

(
[ wil
Comu

GrE

i
embi
trial |
hefor
fence
HERRRY
array
ILam
cure
tleme
{he v
mens
case
mont

L

magi




TER 0
to you,
2 Mot
Lemen|
e told
iﬂ il'::'
It Wil
3 fearn

12 timg
\‘.’L:TL:?
ducal
yis, and
fearal
ire the
ate hi
which
10t o
ast hin
For, h
ye as i
1e bod

ave nol
und, b
error o
uspices
nd chil

badet

trongeig

guilts

Gh T

To cleanse the land from crime, to protect the lives of men, and
for the preservation of society, such men as Pennington must be cut off.
If they are permitted to live, this will become a world of infernal de-
mons,—this fair earth from being the footstool of God will be but the
trap-door of hell. Foor, unfortunate man !—any man is poor and un-
fortunate and to be pitied who is so base, so vile, as not to be fit to live.
[ am sorry with all my soul when I see one of my own fellow creatures
so lost. We should sympathize with him as a human being, but we
cannot sympathize with his crimes, we cannot try him by our sympa-
thies, but by the evidence of his guilt, The guilt of Pennington is in-
evitably fixed ; all this weight of testimony excludes every hypothesis of
his innocence ; all these powerful circumstances mark him out; and
point to him as unerringly and steadily as fhe needle points to the pole,
as the man who murdered Davis. Something has been said during the
progress of this trial ubout the excitement gotten up to the prejudice of
the prisoner. Is is time to be excited when a robbery and a murder
shocking as this has been committed in a ¢'vilized community. The
savages, whire and red, where Pennington was found, would be excited
by the commission of such a deliberate cold-blcoded murder amongst
them: the greatest crime known to the laws of God or man, a crime at
the bure mention of which the soul shudders and shrinks.

Gentlemen, the prisen=r’s guilt isestablished beyond ail doubt; and
| will now come to a conclusion, having discharged my duty to the
Commonwealth, to this community, and to you, to the best of my ability.

I —

SPEECH OF JAMES F. BUCKMER, Esq.
GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY

I must acknowledge thit I never arose to address a jury under more
embarassment. I stand before you as the only counsel of a man upon
trial for his life. L have frequently appeared in criminal causes, but never
hefore in u case of this magnitude, where the accused entrusted his de-
fence to my individual efforts, 1 feel deeply the responsibility 1 have
wssumed, and although I shall not shrink back intimidated by the greut
array of persons who seem eager for tue conviction of the accused, vet
I am conscious that he has been very unfortunate in not being uble to pro-
cure counsel of greater ability than myself. I necd not say to you, gen-
tlemen. that the case you are sworn to try, is of the deepest interest to
the whole community ; for that is manifest from the presence of the im-
mense throng of spectators by which we are now surrounded. The
case is one which has excited this whole community for near twelve
months past. .

The prisoner before you stands indicted for a crime of the greatest
magnitude ; the penalty of which, should he be found guilty, is the' se-
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verest imposed by our laws. By your verdict he will be restored to his
family and to liberty, or be consigned to an ignominiotis death. You
have been selected as the triets of this case because y0|1suquwﬂ1y stated
upon your interrogation, that, as between the Commonwealth and the
accused, you stood impartial ; and, although some of you, from rumors
vou had beard in the coulnry.luui!nn1Itu'f0rnuu!aqﬁ|ﬁuns, you could
divest yourselves of your I}ruccn1¢tirc¢it)iﬁinh}n;.:Lntl fairly decide the
case 1qyot1lln3 evidence which you should hear upon the trial.  The
usunal course upon similar occasions is to select men entirely unacquainted
with any of the facts of the case they are to try, with minds perfectly
unbiased, either by rumor, the statement of parties, general excitement
in the country, or by any other csuse or influence ; but the law regarded
you as legally competent, and relying upon your known sense of justice,
your firmness of purpose, your intelligence and the integrity of your
characters, I submit the cause uftin:lnﬁsnnuri11crnﬂ%duncu to vour de-
cision,

You have sworn to try this case solely upon its own merits, and fo
give your verdict upon the law and testimeny. The ducy which you are
to discharge is delicate in its character, and of the greatest importance
not only tc the accused, but to yourseives and to your country. I know
the extent of the excitement which pervades this hitherto peaceful and
L“ﬁclcnnnnunigzauuithc:unouninflucﬁuﬁvu\vhh which the prisoner
has to contend: and from intimations which T have beard. that preju
dice may to some extent embrace the counsel who conducts his defence;
and perhaps it is necessary that in this case I should deviate from my
usual professional course and make some allusion to my own position us
counsel for the accused.

Ten days ago I had little expectation of being employed in the de-
fence, or inany way participating in the trial which excites so much in-
terest in the public mind. I had not the vanity to suppose that amidst
the many experienced and distinguished lawyers who attend this bar, I
would be deemeéd of sufficient importance to attract the attention of one
placed in a position of such imminent peril; but the position of the ac
cused is different from that of most persons whom I have seen indicted
for an alleged violation of the lawsin this country.{Incarcerated in prison
under a strong guard, cut off from all intercourse or communication
with the world without, destitute of means to secure the aid of ablé
counsel, without a single friend or relative who dared manifest any
sympathy or interest in his behalf, deserted by all the world save his
wife, who still clings to him with all the instinctive fondness of 3
woman’s heart—when appealed to by her, wha*ever others might say,
I felt that I hud no right to refuse’\ Let me not be understood as apol
ogizing for the part which I have acted in this trial. r have no apology
to make in reference to anything which I have ever done in connection
with my course as a lawyer; and though I appreciate as highly as any
man on earth, the kind regard of my friends, and the good will of my
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fellow men generally, yet [ cannot permit considerations such as these
to swerve me so faras to suffer any set of men, however powerful or
respectable, to dictate to me what shall be my professional course. = I
am determined to vindicate in my own person the independence of the
bar, and that no power but my conscience, and my owu sense of justice,
shall prescribe for me the rule of my prcfessional conduct.

I am fully aware of the excitement and feeling which now surround
us. and the causes which have produced it, and I would here suggest te
the audience that within the walls of the sanctuary of Justice is npt the
proper place for its manifestation. {The feeling which has been dis-
played in'some portions of the county in reference to this trial is not in
accordance with that high sense of justice, love of order, and humanity
which have ever distinguished the people of Christian, nor 1is it best
calcuated in causes of this importance to elucidate truth.Y I know
whom I am addressing, and I know too that, when the events of to
day shall have passed by, and reason resumed its sway, many of those
who have been influenced ]J_":,‘ the excitement of the Llu;l)' will be the first
to regret it.

Fortunately for the prisoner, that admits the excitement, turmoil
and passion which seems to surround Lim, there yet remaios to him

(one of the most estimable privileges which pertains to our free gov-

ernment, the right of triul by jury.) Amid all his mi fortunes; he 1s
fortunate in this, that punishment will not be inflicted in this country
except it result from your verdict, and that no man however weak and
friendless. shall be condemned during the reign of cival hberty and law,
but by the judgment of his peers. Suspicion may rest upon him, pas-
sion may be aroused against him, resentmert may pursue him, violence
may threaten, but once within the precicets of the tomple of justice,
they cannot harm him—within the jury- bex they cannol enter, The
juror’s outhis a soverign antiiote, u shield to pro‘ect him against all
nalign influences. In the integrity of the jurors’ and the solemnity
of their oaths, he has a sure guarantee that they “will patiently hear,

dilligently inquire, and a true verdict give, according to law andthe
testin:ony in the cuuse.”

Let it be remembered, gentlemen, guilt can in no case be pre-
sumed : but must be proven. The attorney for the common wealth has
argued this case as thongh his silutary maxim ol law had been reversed
that presumptioh of guilt was to be tuken aguinst the accused, that in-
tead of the commonwealth being compelled to make out her case and
prove the charges laid in the indetment, Pennington was bound to
prove his innocence. Such, gentlemen, is not the custom of the courts,
nor is it the law of the land. The fact that a man has been indicted
for a crime, and has been arraigned before a jury of his country to an-
swer to the indictiment, is nof conclusive evidence of his guilt. The
commonwealth by her attorney is bound to prove conclusively to the
minds of the jury, by good and suflicient cvidence, every charge in the

5
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indictment ; otherwise the prisoner must be acquited witnout adducing |

any proof on his part. For here comes to his aid _tlml benevolet prin.
ciple of law that every man is presumed to be innocent until found
guilty.

{.et us now turn our attention to the evidence before you, and see
how far in accordance with the law that may be applicable to it, it
goes to sustain the charges contained in the indictment, and wheather,
taking the whole case, together with the law and testimony, you will
be authorized to form the opinion which the attorney for the common-
wealth seems to entertain, The witnesses introduced by the common.
wealth state that Simon Davis lived about seven miles east of Hopkins.
ville, that his wife died some time before, after which Davis lived
alone, having only a young negro girl, who ran off and left him a few
days after the death of his wife. He had no other family. He was
possessed of a small property in stock, consisting of a few hogs, cattle
three head of horses, and a growing crop of corn and oats just planted;
that Davis had become dissatisfied, and had frequently spoken of sell-
ing out his proparty and leaving the country in coassequence of some
disagreement with his wife’s relations about their settling a claim to
the negro girl and land on whicu he lived, and other propety which he
hadjacquired by his marriage, so soon as his wife’s death occurred. Davis
was a stone mason, and frequently spoke of quittivg farming, selling
out, and going off to work at his trade, and going to some town in the
state of Illinois, where he alleged he owned a town lot ; that Davis sold
his negro gifl to Mr Bradley for $150, about half her value, in conse-
quence of her having gotton in possession of an onther person, who
claimed her as belonging to the other heirs of Nicholus Pyle, deceased,
of whom Davi’s wife was one. This was on znd May, 1845, and he
on that day stated that he had sold to the prisoner, Pennington, his
whole property, negro included for $300—reserving to himself only
the sorrel mare which he rode; but by a subsequent arrangement made
between Bradley, Davis. and Pennington waived his claim to the
negro in favor of Bradley upon his paying to Davis the price of the
negro, $150; Bradley also assuming at thetime to pay Pennington §2o,
to make Pennington’s bargain in the purchase of the other property
of Davis, equal to the bargain obtuined by Bradley on the purchase of
the negro. All these left Hopkinsviile together, and this bargain was
agreed on while on their way home. No money was paid by Bradley
on that day, to either Davis or Pennington ; it was agreed that as a pasl
of the price of the nepgro, Bradley should pay certain debts oweing by
Dayviss to Dr, Venable, and execution in the hands of Mr. Gibson, a
constable, to have six months credit for a part, and pay seventy-five

dollars in cash, which was done on the next day in Hopkinsville, at '

which time and place Pennington was absent.
On the gth May following, there was a battalion muster at King’s,
near the Pleasant Hill church, about 14 miles north-east of Hopkins-
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ville, and abeut eight miles from the neighborhood where Pennington

::::5 and I_)\-i:: ‘I'l'..*-'uh’,l_l. Mr. Compton states that Pennington and Davis
T mustered in tlu:.:aumc company, though he did not see them together
that day, nor did he know whether they came toor went away {irom
fian the muster I(:_s_rcl'!'-.u_r. (‘.)i'i_ln:r witnesses prove 1!1:11‘ they did not go to the
it, it muster luj_{iriln:r._ IJ:1_1‘1.H is not seen at home afterwards. :
T . [n the evening of the same day about two hm:lz's by sun another
w[':i witness, M. Kdwads, Ht:llc,:.-—'fl}:tl near where Pennington uml]n_m.uc}i
= had [!‘u.'.Li their horsen on reaching the inuster ground, as the witness
oA wus about to get his }'Enrsu to start home, he saw Pennington, Senjaman
o L..|..-'-m:_\'. Sheflield, !u-m.z ,\-1\‘.1‘,'1[!:_“.‘.'1] and a man Witness didn’t J—'.umf.’. 2
wedring a straw 1‘.:1;. talking together. that penhington !:;u‘l A l‘,mttlc in -
fare his E!:'I.I]tll. Iv.;':ll_l-ni witness by :\‘It'xllt‘.t'l: they were and :L.-'if'ud witness to =
S drink with them which '1.u- did, and passed fu‘:m and a.‘jui not hut'm* the =
St stranger sey a word, Witness was unacquainted with Dayis, ':l’..td.
ted - could not say \‘\_L_‘zliinl.‘.l‘ or not the strunger \'-iint[ll he saw was Davis.
quH_' [1e left the parties where he saw them. Jobn "_.". . Gresham, .w!?r_- i.—‘._;i
S x'::11'~l:'.1!’.&“ :lll..Ll had an execution :u-_'_':n::a.l Penningtos:, saw him ‘:_:12:: mn
m to Lhe r\'utu'_‘:j.{ '.1|. company with .tf‘f‘.i]' or 1ive [_u;!'ﬂm« “'!:fnlll he did not
Eha know ,going from "!f“ Spring ”".1"'“ ciLr-.-r_t:tu_»:n whre their horses were
3;1\'i.-' tied :_v:t':;‘-ul to I':-:n:‘m;_._riun at a d'wt.uul'c of sixty or seventy _\':i:'d-‘. when
Hing l);".il}.'.[};_f‘nn,l tn"c-l'-:nl:ll}' lurulud to the *.-.'11:'.?-“'. the other 1:&:1-.«;:!.- passing
e on without haiting, the prisoner and witness returned to the crowd,
= ‘.‘:'ll!‘.lt S0Mme person called wetness ofl :t'.z_l.l he Satw l’un‘.'l';rl_'jtr.-ll 110 1more
iie! [:.-.:N. evening. . W etness had an L'I.ii_'\_"ll:-'.l_?'l!. ;|_'H:.'_:'.1'|.-'t f"i_*11t!]L1'_*_'1.i.JIL urged
o him to pay if, but _?'1-11::1:t:._l1_1_r1'1 spoke of his disappointment 1o getting
0 money, and promise o to rplevy it, lm_: ].". and (;E'tl"‘ilii'.liﬂ were separated
SR in '.'s;‘vlcmxl-.-li and it was not done.  This wis on Friday the gth, and on
= the following Wednesday he saw ]’i-:mm;{im: at the L‘_\."f]ljlilil:fi! il
AT Mount \ ernon ,_\L':i-.ilu'm_\'. \\'lu:rv he J'r'iiin"-';u\i the debt, being .IH'!!:] 1= =
e able to pay it No witness who knew k‘c_-nml':u'[uu and I‘J.-a\'!- testi- _‘
the fied that they saw them together on .!I!L'.l[_ any except :\] r. Emsley Hen- =
- the dvr'lmm_ who stutex that l‘ut".*_-';l\\' .k’v:'.-nzn_tu:lu:: und H.;n‘;.a start from the =
$20, spring and o !11‘[!'”.'} drection of the c1|1:l'cﬁlh—i"t-:llmn_uluu at that time =
SETia had a bottle in his hand. and saw thm as far us sixty or seventy yards =
<5 o jrom the spring. The church as was proven is sume I50 or 200 hun- =
L dred yards from the spring, The stand was there tfrom which the can- =
Ales di;i;ll‘us‘ ;uhfl'u.'l.----;a‘. the 'in-tl[‘-[c_. Mr. [lenderson was proven to be a —
P.’lf.f man of very intemperate habits, and on [lmllxl:'.\' as usual, was drini- =
h ing freely long before that time, and according to the testimony of the
;] a witness, was quite noisy, drinking about umong tne crowd ; :'.i.‘._t.‘(_-rdillg
v to his own confession, he had taksn ten ora dozen drinks before the
<Y time he states tlat be saw Pennington and Davis leave the spring,
; Some two monthsafterward it was rumoured in the neighborhood  that
ag’s, :-ho'rtl_vl:uf[v_r 1!1|f.~ muster a horse, 51_:1[51‘.-_{ Iliul*‘ch:;r::ikalirm .ul' the one
Eitiss which Davisrode to the muster, was found tied in a thicket in the rear
.éhJ : --'«;\";-!"
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1.‘( of the field where Cisney and Sheflield lived, in Todd county. Somd
persons went to look tm the horse, but it had been removed.Y Thi
circumstance excited suspicion against Cisney and Sheflield, and g
Davis was missing they were arrested under the suspicion of having
murdered Davis, { Statements made by Cisuey lead to the discovery
a dead body concealed in acave upwards of six miles from the muste
gr(}und '] This 1 lm.\ was, b\' Mr W. S, Ct)ltlpini‘:. stated to be the bods

f Davis. ~Mr,. (Jlumr’\ and others who had known him in his lifed
timu could not identify it as being that of Davis. It was from state
ments made by Cisney, that Pennington was first directly implicated,
Jt is true that the witness says he was suspected of having mmdu-l
Dawvis. The commnwealth’s attorney csh]ulml to my inerrogating the
witness respcting the suspicions against Cisney and Sheflield, alleging
that he did not wish the community IHL-_H[‘.lJl.t,R! gainst them, provided
they should hereafter be brought to crial. But the indictmen which]

hold in my hand charges both Pennington and Cisney’ with being

guilty of the murder of Simon Davis, the one principal, the other g
acessory, charged with aiding and abetting in the murder. The pros

wuitmtr attcrney becomes meulintrl\' tender ot the reputation of
l_,aum\,, and straneously UEJ-[L‘CI‘- my mentioning his name in connec
tion wiht this nunfortunate affair, but I must say to him that he cannot
by this means divert the attention of the jury from the fact that this
muan Cisney has acted a prominent part in this matter, the records
show the fact, and the indictment in his own hand-writing, now be
fore me places Ihrn\ in connection, and frem all the facts which T huv
heard detailed, it may very reasonably be inferred that if either was
concerned. Cisney or .Sheffield, and not Peunington, is the gruilty

man, But Cisney, though endicted and imprisoned, has broken _:i'.
and and fled : i’Lummrl: n 1is yet in custdoay, and all tliese facts and
circumstances which may have been intended for the conviction of the
muder, are now made to bear upon the latter. The prosecuting attor

ney, alluding to this matter during the examination of the witnesses,
t’IIhLI u.uunn f!\ ch: irge d me with I}E.‘i_}‘in}_{‘ off a little borrowed wil,
but in his opinion I had made a signal farlare, and remarked in sub-
stance that borrowed weapons were dangerous in unskillful hands,
The manner of his remark caused me to feel keenly for a moment, for
I thought he deviated in this instance from that courteons and delight-
ful bearing which has ever distinguished him in his intercourse with
the bar.  But Lattribute it to the fact, that in his zeal for the common-
wealth, has unconsciously imuibed a portion of tlie excitement which
seems to be so genral outside of the court house. But it has been stated
by the witnesses that shortly after the muster Pennington took posses:
sion of I)wu s property, his stock, and commenced the cultivation of
his LHJI) that h.‘:'UL-L!JUL‘]”.]\' that some of the property was
delivered up by Mrs. Pennington to the individual who applied -tor it,

that there was no effot at coneealment, It was also proven before you
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that when asked about Davis by Mr. Comphon, Mr. Vaughan, Mr.
Harrison, Mr. Kelly and others, and interrogated by them about where
he was, that he stated that he was in Clarksville at work, at the Iron
works of Paducah, and to others that he was in Illinois, and to some
of them in some of these conversations. they state he said he knew
where he was, that he had seen hiim. Mr. Compton stated, he said. he
believed he had seen him at the exhibition. Mr. Kelly stated that he
had two conversations with him about Davis. in which he stated that
Davis was at work and doing well, and that he would soon return, so
sooon as the dificulty with Bradley about the sale of the negro
wss settled. He was frequently interogated by the neighbors about
Davis, and where he was, and gave such repli=s asI have already spo-
ken of. One conversatian was had according to the statement of Mr.
Richard Vaughan, in tle roud leading to Edwards® mill, butof the
manner that conversation commeuced the witness does not recollect. but
il

butis confident he had the conversation with the details., and gave
L reason, that his family have lately told wstnesses. that he, witness,

told them what was cuid when he come home. Such s the character

of the conversations which huve been proven on this trial against the

accused, and are relied on by the prossecuting attorney as the most
pomnted and substaatial evidence of the guilt of the accused. But.

ventliemen [ do 10T E0-regard I'||l‘!1.' - and I shall .-.l!:l".‘.' to yvon that ]

am cowvfident that you should not and cannot attch that sort of Et:ri}nr-

=

Lince 1o mere casu:il conversations ol 'tIIl' prisoner. lJl-'.t severial ‘.T]EIE':T]I:-C

since, and the particulars dud the precise words of the aecused, resting

nthe memory ard dependent upon the recollection - of the witne sses,
In refference to the lnw of this cuse. I will m:ike noussertion as to what
the Liw is. unsustanined by authority, and under the sanction of the court
and believing that the language of the lnw book is more expiicit and
and 1':'.-%_‘\‘ Ol V“[.':Ii”i'!-:.l’;*rllfl 13::1:3 .".T!_'C :_'.\']"15;1:!:.'{i1-!1 j Cin IH:&L:L'*
L will read to you from Starkey on evidence. Vol. 1. page 546,a work
whicliis every regarded as the highest autnority,

O a f ' 3

I kinds of evidence, that ol extra-judicial and casual declary-
lons 1s che wenkest and most unsatisfactory : such words are often §.)0-
without seérious intention. and th: y are alwys hable to be mista cen
misremembered and their meaning

exapoerited.”

ng linble to be [I]['—':'l'i}]'trsallict! pue
**A hearer is apt to - clothe ideas of the speaker as he understands
them in his own languuge, and by  this translation the real m anmng
must often be lost, A witness who is not entirely indifferent be, W s n
he parties will freqnently, without being conscious that he does so  give
too high a coloring to what has been said.” >

: “The necessity for caution cannot be too strongly and emphati:ally
‘mpressed wheve particular expressions are detailed in evidence, wich
were used at a remote distance of time, or to which the dttention o the
witness was not particularly called, or where misconception was H elv
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to arise from their situation, and the circumstances under which th
were placed, or from the prejudice of the witnesses, especially if |
object was to extract admissions for the purposes of the trial. Sy
evidence 1s fabricated easily, contradicted with difficulty. In cases|
this kind the conduct of the parties, and those facts and circumstang
of the case which are free from suspicion are frequently the safest s
surest guides to truth. Evidence of this nature is of the very weaks
kind where it is dou
knew his legal rights and situation.”

Such, gentlemen, is the construction which the law puts upon cq
versations, such as have been proven before you, and which form,
cording to the ‘atimations of the commonwealth’s attorney, the grous
work of the accusation against Pennington, and is,” in fact, the qj
hich seems to have any bearing on the case. You see in wh
light such testimony is regarded by the law, and how forcibly and §
' are the reasons of the author. In illustration of the und
testimony, and the serious consequences which may re
e or inadvertence of the party detailing these conve

iven in the same book, in a note ftof

pz'oof w

propriate
tainty of such
from the mistak
tions, 1 will read you a case g1
same page from which ] have just read :”’

T once heard a learned judge in summing up on i trinl for forgs
ury that the prisoner in a conversation which he ha

inform the ]
one of the witnesses, had said. “I am the drawer, the acceptor, ani

endorser of the bill)” whilst the judge was commen Ing on the fore

these cxpressions, he was at
the statement of the witness, which was that the prisoner had siid
know the drawer, the endorser. and the acceptor of the bill. Had

1¢ judge made the mistake the consequences mij

the instance of the prisoner set right &

witness and not tl
have been fatal. The prisoner wias acquitted.

What is there in the character of the conversations which
been detailed which makes exceptions to the general rule, or that Wi
entitle them to greater weight than in ordinury cases? lIn my hu
npinion that in criminal causes, instead of making exceptions
favor the rule should be.much more rigidly apphed. Y ou recollect!
these conversations originated,  Pennington lived within two mié
Davis, and took 1}r=n'.~:u.-.-aiun of his property. This fact caused 1ngt
him in the neighborhood, and the additional fact§

L

to be made ot
Pennington had,
cervant to cook for him after the death
These tucts were known in the neighbori

on several occasions befriended Davis, and had
of his wife, and after hist

negro girl had left him,

Pennington took possession of the property under the authority G

mitted that he had sold all his property to Pennington. and thut b
tended to quit the country. Various witnesses testified to the fac
Davis repeatedly tried to sell the property fo them, and averred, hif
termination to go to Illinois, or to some other plice to work il

purc]m&:u: from Davis: for Mr. Bradley distinctly stuted that Dave

btful whether the party making the admissig
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trade. It was under these circumstances that these conversations were
had with Pennington, at a time, too, when there was nothing to call
the attention of the~wvitnesses to the identical words of theconversation
From these facts is it at all remarkable, after the repeated declarations
of Davis, that he was going to lllinois, that he intended to leave this
country for the purpose of working at his trade; that, when interro-
gated by persons, or in casual conversations about where Davis was, or
had gone, Penningtén should have said, to Ilinois, or to Clarksyille; or
to any point, and was working at his trade.  Wlho can say that this
was not merely the expression of his dpinion where Davis was, rather
than a direct and positive assertion of the fact that Davis was'in Illinois
or Clarksville, or at any other place sboken of by the prisoner.

But great stiess was laid upon the statements of Mr. Harrison,
young Compton,and Mr. Vaughan, that Pennington Had said at some
of these times, when conversing on this subject, that he had seen Davis,
and that he knew where he was, and that he would return. These
statements, according to the rule of law which I have read. are entitled
to no more consideration than the others, for it has been seen how:-easily
the-witness may misunderstand the prisoner; and thus pervert the mean-
ing of what he really did say by the substitution of the language and
ideas of the witness for that of the accused: It is as easy for the wit-
ness to have substituted the words, T -have seen or know where he is.
for I have heard, or believe 1 know where he is, as it was for the Judge
in the forgery case, which I read to yousfrom the book, who misstated
the 1¢~1i|.'u_m5' of the witness when he said I am, instead of I know the
drawer, the endorser, and the acceptor of the bill, Nothing would be
more rational than to suppose that the witness in this case, when labor-
ing-under the excitement and prejudice, which none of them will deny
entertaining towards the accused, would now take for positive and un-
qualiffed assertions, that which was intended by the prisoner for ncth-
ing more than a mere opinion or qualified conjecture or supposition,
The language of the law is that such testimony under these circum-
stances. sho'tld be received with great caution, for it is at best frequent-
ly nothing more than the prejudiced, and erroneous conclusions of the
witness, and if the rule should thus rigidly be applied in civil causes
where mere property, mere dollars and cents are in controvérsy between
man and man, how much more caution should be observed, how little
weight and consideration should be attached to it by a Juryin a ¢rims-
inal cause, when the life and death ¢f 4 fellow is suspenaed on their
verdict. Statements, such as you have heard are, asthe law Says :
“IFabricated easily, contradicted with difficulty, and as it is imbossible
tu dispruvc them. and no person present, save the witness and the ac-
cused, for let it be observed that no two witnesses testify to any one of
these conversions. Ilow easily for the most conscientious and upright
person when no one heard tie conversations but himself, when he goes
to relate” them merely from memory, after a lapse of nearly twelve

b“.“"—-‘“-’-ﬁ.‘!“ WA AW a3 s ancin 3 E— PR sni b  an .




G-t

months, to clothe in their own language the 1deas of the accused ang
commit an error fraught with the most fatal consequences. It is 1y
these reasons that the ¢ uthorities regard 1t‘-~l|1n(‘»1‘i\' ol [Iw- kind 1s of 1}
flimsiest, weakast and most dangerous character.

But it is centéended that the facts which were stated to have og.
curred at the muster trrmnuL are sufficient to l'““” ] L'IlH]I]“l!lIl as his
murderer, and 1hat it is his duty to L\ps tin‘them, and in that explang.
tion show his innocenge, and evert suspicion from him. And Here. in
my opinion, the attornéy for the commonwealth has n'aced himselt in g
false position; he overlooked the principal contained in that beneficent
to which 1 have alre: nn averted, that the accused is to be Il:.’:.lllhd
innocent until his guilt conclusively .lppinlt-: and urless these fucst and
circumstances of which he speaks in themselves, unexplained by the ac.
cused, contain conclusive evidence-of his guilt, you are bound to acq Juif
bim,

But let us examine them, and the law is applicable to them, and]

see how far they justify his conclusions. Penningon wasat the must
ground about an hour and a half by sun, aceording to thé statements o
more than one witness, and staid-all night at Mrs, MctFaddens, whi'h
ll];u,'l_' ha reached about two hours in ' the H.i,_!'hl. or :~E|c\rl1._\' after the usuul
supper time ; be had his horse put up and after settibg up about an hou
went to bed, and left next morning and went home, stopping on the
way about two hours at West’s -h--p where he and McFadden parted
From the mustet trwumi to the cave is upwards of six miles to take tlge
most direct roule thaough the woods, but by the road usually traveled it
is fully seven ; from the cave to Mrs. McFaddens, is six miles or more,
and from the muster ground to Mrs. McFuddens, where he staid all
night, it isat least six miles, I‘rom the muster greund to the cave and
from there to Mrs. McFaddens, all the ways which could be traveled
pass over the roughest ground in thecounty of Christian The county s
exceedingly hilly, and as the distance is at least twelve miles through
the woods on a direct line, and more i;::,' the ruad. it i1s impossible that
he could have traveled that distance from the time he left the muster t”'
he reached wrs McFaddens, and delayed long éenough to have commited
the deed and robbed !151:1* concealed the 1 body in the manor described, and
have disposed of Davi’s hores, ~According to the testimony of Henderson
he was seento ride from the spring in the direction of the enurch, but
Mr. Greshamand M. Wicks tell you that by the church is the most usual
and direct road to Mrs McFaddexgs, that at that point the rods diverge in
all directions, and from thence \l‘ll may go in the direction of the cave
or to Mrs. McFaddeus, Gresham and H.u]um went that way on their
road home, a great portion of which was on the most direct route to the
cave, and Hawkinsllived about one-fourth of mile a immediotely beyond
it ; aleng the road usually traveled, numbers went, yet no one saw Pen-
nim-rltm in that direction. Early in the d: Ly T’erlt'urrun and fmu;)'

McFadden swappen horses, and Pennington agreed to go home wit
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him:add Mrs. MeFadden states that she had sent word [tJ(_.lanu. to tell
Pennington to come to see her, that she wished Lim to go her sec urity
for HJL guardianship of her children,

Joseph Mcladden was unwell and left the muster ground early,
Abner Cooper reached Mrs, Mc Faddens, only an hour before I’cnmng;
ton, put up the horse which Pennington rode, and heard him and his
sister falking about his becoming her security. They all state that
when he reached there they discovered nothing unusual in pennington’s
conduct or appearance. [t will be observed too. that- the st: itement of
Henderson who testified that he saw Pennington and a mdan who he
q,]-.lmuw*. to be Duvis, leaving the spring in the direction of the church
is unsupporte d by any othier \\‘;!:!L‘Z‘-S. There were then at that time at
a large crowe .of persons, yet nll one saw them but Hendeson.
and he ..a_E\,.n\\,u.ju-u that 'cr was drinking, and had take,n as he sup-
poses, ten ora dozen drinks belore tnis time. If this was his situation
and it seems to bo admifred that his own statement about it is correct.
for he 1s very much addicted to iutoxication, what ever may be his in-
tention, vet I am compelled to doubt his ability to Lii‘i'[]'i-ig_:"_;f.‘-h one man
from another at the distance he saw them when lie had no cause for ob-
serving them. This isthe only witness who saw Pennington and Da-
s and Mr. Gresham saw Pennington
n state that they
i !F‘[lli \\I ‘.'u,.!ll_‘]].

adden whencalled

—

=
Vis .r,x_:_ft".lwt' that'day. M. Edwac
in company wilh other pereons, yet none of them ca
saw Dayvis, Edwards recollects "“ﬂ'||t.‘i\-"-.:-;,d1 ‘\.‘i‘-"il'\' 1N
-
L

being with Pennington and a stronger, yet Jo
on, states that he was not in their compuany at '|]._',:Z E1|;;L‘U on that q_[;:_'.'_
oneg.or the -_'Jlil'.'i' ;.» Il‘.i*i'.u.i-.&“ﬂ. \I ‘\Iti .l'ulH'Lf lll ".i:w i_:E'I{,!Hi]lj’ 5‘\-':1"['.
in behalf of the t‘nillit'.‘s.-:l\\'c:lllh, .-::inf that ii:im Wis a4 case ;Ewh }umu:
[11-[-{-‘--,- upou circumstantial evldence, and these are in substance the cir-
cumstances upon which herelies forthe conviction of the accused. There
was 4 great array of witnesses exaemined on the .part of"the common-
vealth, but these cirumstances which, I have recapitulated’ are, in sub-
stance, all that can ce gleaned form the greet mass of their testimony,
and furnish all the evidence to sup 111=T'E the indictment _url[nat the I.L
cused. Sheflield and Cisney who are also suspected, one of whom has
been' indicted. were alse at thie muster. Col Robinson.saw them pass
his house going there, but no one tell what became ot them after two
hours by sun in the evening, or where they staid all night.. These c¢ir-
cumstances may turnish to minds easily aroused to -suspicionsome
grounds' of distrust against th= prisoner, but they certainly amount to
no more than a remote probawihiay, which in the eyes of the law can-
not afford a just ground for conviction. Insupport of this pesition, I
will read you from Starkie, g60.

‘It is, however, to be remarked that where mcru inconclusive praob-
abilties: concur, tne result, however the degree of probability m ay tu-
increased by tne untbn, will still of an indefinite 411& inclusive natur
and hence it seems that in criminal cases the mere union ot a limftud
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number of cicumstances, each of which is of an imperfect an inconely
sive nature, cannot afford a just ground for conviction,”

* Agan, gentlemen, the same author, speaking of circumstnces, (forf
connot so well express my views of this subject, as it is done iu (}d
words of the law) says: *‘Itis essential to circumstantial proof, fiirs
that the carcumstances from which the conclusions are drawn should |4
fully etablishec. If the basis be unsound the superstructure cannt g
secure. The party upon whom the burden of proot rests is bound t
every single cirumstance which is essential to the conclusion in the samg
manner, and to the some extent as if the whole issue had rested upon
the proof of cack individual, and essential circumscance. -Where thé
main circumstances rests on the testimony of a limited number of wit
nesses, the evidence can never be superior to the lowest grade of prooi,
and must frequently fall below it, for in addition to the question whetls
er the wiuness were faithworthy, another question would arrise, tha
inference was correctly drown from the tacts which he was stip posed tg
have proved,”™

The same auther on - page 572, when speaking on the subject of
circumstantial evidence, plainly points out the character of the circumd
stances which are regarded as evidence and shows that circumstance
which merely excite suspicion or raise a probability of guilt cannot b
relied on as evidence, and how dangerous it would be to make cocly
stons drasn from such a source the basif of conviction,

“‘It is essntial tnat the circumstances should be of a conclusivé
nature and tendency. Evidence is always indefinite and-inconclusive
when it raisesnno more than a limited |JruIm.IJtln1. in favor of the Fact 4
compared with some definite probability against it, whether the precise
proposition can or cannot be ascertaived. It is, on the other hand, o4
conclusive nature and tendency when the probability in faver of the hy
pothesis exceeds all arithmetical or definite limits., Such evidence i
always insufficient tvhenjassuming all proved which the evidence tends
to prove, some other hypothesis may stiil be true; forit isthe actuil
exclusion of every other hypothesis which invests mere :-.irrmnsr.;amts:-.
with the force of proof. Whenever, thererefore, the evidence leayves it
indifferent which of several hypotheses is true, or me rely establishes somé
definite probability in favor of one rather than the other, such l..".ll.]mhl:
cannot smount to proof, however great the probablln} may be. To
hold that any finite degree of prob: nln[m, shall constitute adiquate p ool
for the conviction of the offender,would in reality be to assert that out
of some finite number of persons accused, an innocent man should be
sacrificed for the sake of plmiqhimr the rest ; which is inconsistent with
the humane spirit of our laws. As it is with the suggestions of reason to
justice. The maxim of law is, that “*it is better that ninty-nine offen:
ders should escape, than thatoneinnocent man should be condemned.
‘These are precepts based upon the most refined feelings of humanity
are in accordance with sound common sense an.d Juqnm-,ami should have
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great weight with any humane auadintelligent jury. I have heard prosecut-
ing attornies attempt to evade the force of these principles by a sort of
legal demagoguism, denouncing this authority as a British book.

It 1s awork of the highest authority with the legal profession in this
country, and from Mr. McLarning’s general elevated and liberal course,
[ cannot anticipate that he will now descend to indulge in it. 1 will
call your attention to a few more passages of law, which I regard 18
applying, with peculiar force, to the testimony which you have heard,

“‘In practice when it iscertain that one of two individuals commit-
ted the offence charged but it is uncertain who, is the one or the other
was the goilly agent, neither of them can be cortwvicted,”

Now, gentlemen, recur to the testimony in this case ; recollect that
Cisney, Sheflield, and others as well as the prisoner now suspected and
arrested, and one of them now stands indicted for this same offence. can
you say without a doubt that one or the other was certainly the guilty
agent, even though you should ecnclude that some one of the parties was
puilty 7

“The principle extends to all cases, where the  ultimate tendency
of the evidence is of an inconciusive nature, that is where admiting all
to be proved which the evidence tends to prove; the guilt of the ac-
cused would be left either wholly uncertain or dependent upon some
mere definite probability. Wherever the probability is of a definite und
limited nature { whether in the proportion of one hundred to one, or of
one thousand to one. or any other ratio as immaterial,) in cannot be
safely mude the ground of conviction; for to actupon it in any case
would be to decide that, for the sake of convicting many criminals the
life of one innocent man might be sacrificed.”  Such is the law of Eng-
land, which rules m all their criminal’trials, and is the source from which
wederive the principles of our crimiual jurisprudence and it shows the
degree of caution and vigilance which isused there in the appl'cation
ot thns species of evidence; and in acting upon it here the just and hu-
mane rules of one cf England’s greatest judges caunot be too often re-
peated, TUTIUS SEMPER EST ERRARE IN ACQIETANDO,QUAM INPUNIEN-
DO, EXPARTE MITERICORDIOE QUAM JUSTITIOE, it is alwavs saferto err
in acquitting than in punishing, on the part of mercy than on the part
of justice.  If suchare the principles upon which the rules of that tyran-
icul government administer the lawsupon the trial of their subjects
surely a less liberal and humane interpretation cannot be even to them

Lhere upen the trial of a citizen, if we act in accordance wgih the spirit

of our republican institutions. But in is contended that the conduct of
the accused after the discovery of the body. of Davis, furnishes st rong
presumption of his guilt, that he fled from the country, and that after
4 proclamation by the gavernor offering reward for his apprehension,
and his own conversations respecting his escape from this country, and
lis cupture and the circumstances under which he was brought to trial,
ire in themselves cirsumstances from which guilt is to be inferred.
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The excitement which pervaded this entire community after the prisoner
was implicated by tl,e statements of Cisney, and the well founded ap-
prehesion which he could not fail to entertain lh_;l[ he \\-‘clu}d be .Inm_-_:
upon the gallows wheh had been there erected, without the formality of
a trial, is of itself a sufficient refutation of sueh an argument.—The
conversations which he had with the guardl and when he was intero-
gated by the crowd who assembled al the jail to question him, and the
resdecting his traels i Texas, shows that his only ob-
should not have the

answers ee gave
ject was to beguile and amuse the crowd, and
weight of a feather on this trial, The witnesses themselves, Mr.
Dulin, Mr. west and Col. Hays, do not agree in their recoilection of his
statements about she route he pursued, the pointat which he crossed the
river. and Col., notwithstanding his gereral accuincy in relatiting fac's
from memory has acknowledged his mistakes, and has more than once
corrected himsif. Yeu will recollect that Mr. Myers and others have
more than once corrected statements which they have made during the
Progress of this trial. No man doubts the integrity ol these gentlemen,
Lut I allude to the fact to. shoWw how little reliance should be placed
uvon the conversation of the accused when intended to be used as tes-
timony even when these conversations are detailed by the most hon-
est and intlligent witnesses, from their mere recollection. The con-
duct of the accused is at best on uncertain test of gnilt, and should be
received wih great caution. For the books tell us that a weak, injudi-
but innocent petson will some times take very undoe means for

cious,
A strong illustration of this is

his security when suspected of crime.
offered in the case related in tee firat volume of Starkie on evidence page
z2, A young lady who lived with her uncle was heard by the neigh-
bors to cry out “good uncle do not kill me,” dnd soon afterwards disap-
peared; and he qging suspected of having destroyed her on accoxnt
of her large property, was required by the justice to produce her, and
being unabls to do it, procured another girl resemblng his niece and at-
tempted to pass her off as such. but was detected in the fraud, condem-
ed and executed, when it was afterwards ascertained that she was still
living, having eloped with her lover. During the last Tall a young
man and a negro were indicted and tried in an adjoining county,
charged with breaking a house and stealing a large sum of money.
From the general bad character of the young man, added to the fact
that some of the money was delivered up by him when the robbery
was made public, and the previous good character of the negro, suspi-
cion was fastened on the white man and the prevailing opinion among
the citizens was that the circumstances plainly pointed out that he was
guilty and the negro innocent. In the opinion of the jury either the one
or the other must be guilty and the circumstances were greatly against
the youth, But in their abundant caution both were acquitted ; but a
hott time afterwards the negro on his death bed, acknowledged his
own guilt, and avowed the entire imnnocence of the youth who, with his
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er mn]\. have been driven by public sentfment from the land of his birth.
p- L;Lnllr.*mn be eautious how you base your verdict upon merely cir-
1 I_:m_q.mu.n evidence. Huve you not marked how treac herons are our
of bemories, how deceptive, even the strongest chain of circumstances?
he Wou have seen mole hills magnified into mountains, and when a com- (
0- hunity 1s excited how “trifles light as air’ when blown upon bv the
he hrea th of prejudice become comfirmation strong as Holy "Writ.,’ :
b- ake the whole case as it has been pwkunlui to you, weigh all the
he ccumstances, scrutinize well the testimony which you have heard and
r. m'\ it to the law which [ have read to you, and see whether the com-
vis bonwealth has sustained the charge made in the indictment. Tt will
he ot do to decide upon surmises, upon suspicions, nor probabilties, but
1 b nviction must be so strongly riveted upon your mindes that you can-
ce ol tertain a doubt, for if you have a reasonsble doubt'the luw re-
ve buires you to acquit. The patient manner in which. you have listened
he b the evidence ;...d the colm deliberative -bearing w hich have charac-
11, l-r:;»'f._'d ",l}ll LlLlHH r this :n--lr icted trial, assures e 111 11 no exiraneols
ed nfluences, that no vindictive feelin gs will influenee your verdict, The i
st biect of the law is not vengeance, .md surely 11 there is'a man on earth i
e b ho cherishes in his vosem a single feeling of resentment apainst the
- infortunrte nnlsrlu.u::l before you, he will Dbe disarmed by the scene
be before us—The duty which you are about to discharge is one of the
di- mavest importance to the prisoner, to your selves, and to your coun-
for ry. DBy your verdict you will consign one of your fellow men toan
is ',r-mmmnth death or restore him to liberty and to the bosom of his
e fumily.  “T'he duty whic h has devolved upon me as h iis counsel I have
h- lischarged impartially, fearlessly, and to the best of my feeble ability.
L{2- | have no doubt you will discharge vours with feelings of the most con-
int Lientious rectitude, with a sense of the strictest ]1|~'%L'u. but let justice
nd be tempered with nercy. None can tell the angais h that wrings the
at- beart of her wuo- cnngs to the sede of this wretched man, who is the
- morning of life united her destiny with his, and looked forward with k
till erger anticipation of a life of bappiness. The degradation of the hus-
ng bind will descend alike upon the wife and her children. Remember "
ty, e humane injunciions of the law, if youerr let it be on the: side of i’
ey. mercy. I now commit the fate of my client in confidenc to your de- G
act - @cision, and trust that your verdict will be such that your consciences
Gy inafter time will approve,
u[\‘.
3§54
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in relpy. It is my duty to address you in conclusion. I do not do so be.
cause I am doubtful of what your vercict will be. The law and the ey.
idence will be your guides in yvour solen u meditations, and final determi.
nation of this case, The [aw istoo plaic to need one word of comment,
Itis known to you, it is well known to every man, that murder is pun.
ishable with tlc:'tth, and this is a case of murder or nothing, Mr. Buck-
ner said in the commencement of his epeech, that there exists great ex.
citement and much pertrubed feliing, in this communily against the pris
oner, and that the same feeling is even attempted to be extended to him,
because he appears as council in defence of Pennington ; and if he had
been controled and influeaced by the suggestions and advice of friends
he would not haveappeared as council for the defendant in this trial,
Gentlemen, 1 can say for myselt ; I have no feelings of excitement or re.
sentment against Pennington, no more than if he was dead—he is a poor
fallen, prostrate mun, over whelmed in guilt and infamy.} No sucl
feelings should exist  in the human heuart.  But let him be as bad as he
may be, let him have called down the heaviest penaliy of the law upon
his guilty head, yet heis entitled tou fair and impartial trial by the laws of
his country ; and that country by its laws, secures to the vilest wrercl.
the right of being heard by himself and counsel when put upon his triul,
I would rather a thousand such men as Pennington should escape un.
punished, than that the laws of my country should be trampled under
foot in this person. Thut sacred instrument, that blood bought inher-
itance, the constitution, transmitted to us by the worthies of the rev-
olution, secures the accused the right to be heurd by himseif und counsel :
and when that right is denied or suspended, is open violation of the con-
stitution.  The barbarian code of Lynch law, cannot be brought to
bear, or have a concurrence of jurisdiction, in eriminal cases where |
am prossecutor. ‘There is less to be feared from the undue influence of
counsel in the case of a man friendless and abandoned like Pennington,
than any other. Such men as he are those thatshould have the full ben-
efit af cousel to prevent their being convicted contrary to law. If te
had no counsel, I would not prossecute him. I will not aid in no man’s
conviction contrary go law. Iscorn Judge Lynce and his dastardly
rufliun code, and 1 want none of his assistance. The halls of a court of
justice are too sacred to be contaminated by his presence.

Lhoner and respect Mr. Buckner, for doing his duty asa lawyer,
i the defense of Pennington, for manfully and indepndently defending
the prisoner: and in so doing vindicating the constitution, vindicating
his own rights, and vindicating the independence of the bar. What!
when a poor wretch like Pennington, trodden down under foot, aban-
doned by God and man, comes to be tried, is he not to have the bene-
fit of counsel? If thereis such an ebullition of disorderly feeling as
Mr. Buckner intimates, at present existing in the public mind, will
calm down and subside when the storm passes away ; and no prejudice
can be harbered against him for defending Pennington. But miy not
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Mr. Buckner be mistaken? May it not only be a few excited individ-
pals, and not the plblic sentiment of the people of this county to which
he alludes? A whole county or a whole community may have great
injustice done it by charging it with the misbehavior or erroniouis con-
duct of a few mdividuals. '

Mr. Buckner said that come of my remarks he felt most keenly. [
did not ‘intend to hurt'Mr Buckner’s feelings by anything I said. Far
woeld it be trom me at any time to say anything that w ould be unpleas-
ant to a gentleman that 1sso highly respected by me. If I said any-
thing calculated in the least to touch his fee lings, it was done uninten-
ti u:m]h, and I regret 11 But I must still say, that his speaking of my
being tender of Cisney’s character, was an inappropriate and uncalled
for,

That excitement has existed, and still does exist ,.Lr:r{.l:ll‘-l the prkuon-
er for the perpetiation of his murder and robbery, I will not gainsay.
t is natural that it should exist. It could not be otherwise in any com-
munity, unless the people were less than human, unless their sensabil-
ities was callous as sayvages,or brute beasts. But I ain bound to interpose
my deniul that any spirit of subordination to law has been manifested.
[am aware that- false reports hove gone abroad to the injury of our
country, that its citizens in disregard to law, were disposed to take
vengeance into their own hands, and inflict summary punishment upon
criminils, without ju-.]_u;v or jury. Such repoits are utterly false and un-
lounded. There may be rash, weak men, who, under a state of excited
feeling. would say that Pennington ought to pe hung over the cave into
which he had cast Davis's dead. body; euch men are to be found in ev-
ery community, I repel with indignation, the slanderous charge, that
such mtentions and feelings ever llni exist to.any extent in Christian
county. 1f such ever hs d any existence, they were confined to so few
m number, that they dsd not amount even to a minority ; for a minority
would imply a division of sentiment amongst the people ‘on the subject.
The people—yes, the people never entertained or countenanced such in-
tentions, 1f they were ever entertained, which 1 do not admit, it was
only by a few isoluted, thoughtless persons in an hourot great excite-
ment, for whose conduct the people of Christian county should no more
be held responsible, than they should be for the conduct of such men as
Pennington himself.  Mr. Buckner still *&l](}'l.‘n’.\ about this **Safety So-
ciety.” He attempts toaccount for Pennington’s flight, because he had
reasons te fear personal violence from these men, The character of the
men who composed this association, as I have already shown, forbids
the idea that they would become the violators of the law. I care noth-
ing about this society—I am not its advocate—I had nothing to do with
ir. But isthere any thing reprehensible in men, as friends of law and order,
assembling together, to aid each other in ferreting out offenders, and
contributing their money to pursue and bring them back ; and co-ope-
riting by their united exertions in haying them apprehended and
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brought to trial, Tlis is all, so far as we have any information, that
was ever intended to be done by this society.

Mr. Buckner, in attempting teo overcome and do awy with the 3
presumption that Pennington’s flight is evidence of his guilt, says, that
on the day after the dead. body was found, Gordon, on the road six
milds below Hopkinsville, told him all about;and he tled for fear of
armed men. Told him all about what?—1This much talked of society
was not then formed, nor was it formed until weeks afterwards. He
only told him that. the dead body was found—that was ull that Gordon
could tell him, for he knew he was suspected of murder, and he must

CAVE S
there.
Il he {1
go 10O 1
he' pre
Pennyr
got (O
.‘.i:t*.-I.'l

ACCONI

have known he would be apprehended. His guilty conscience told 'il_'L-l_Ul
him then, that the evidence was full and complete as to his guilt. Te R
well kuew that he was in no danger till,the dead body was found, but !l'l;‘} E
when that was found, he fled. Guilt pursued and he fled, and contin- 'L:'.'il..
ued his flight—gult still driving bhim on, waorse than the lash of ten ;
thousand scorpions, till he got beyond where the white man Lives.: Mr, A

Buckner says he fled in fear of urmed men. If men were armed, it wus
in-aid of law—you may have seen armed men to day guarding ham
from the jauil, but they are armed in aid of law and to prevent his es-
cape. And so were the men armed in aid of law, who were in search
of the murderer of Davis wlien his dead body was found. They were
armed in a holy cause it was to put down a lurking fee, inthe midst 4R
of socsety, who had taken human life, not by punishing him with their :
.

own hands, but by captureing him, and securing him for jail. [t was r HIT
an honorable and mentorious, to arm for the purpose of -.:f;q;;i;.j”:__{ the IR s
law and arresting an internal enemy who had struck a blow at the vary .:r e
vituls of society, as it would-have been to have been armad to repel 3 l”_s"rlk
savage invading foe. It was not armed men that he feared A .\]
caused hisflight. It was a trial that he feared after the dead body was S
found. ; '"_1|'" oA

WO 1f

Mr. Buckner said that I have argued this as though the salutary |
2 k : : ) gl the pr
maxim of law had-been reversed, that a man is alwiays presumed lt I
7 SRRy . : ; men
to be ;;'n;lr:\' until hisinnocence is proved, and as-the accused was bound T
to prove his innocence, or he would be presumed to be guilty. The

0N Dr

gentleman does not attempt to controvert the competency of circum- ‘i-iig-
stantial testimony to warrant convictions in crimimal cases: but in this |1 :
J ) A aLher

case, because we say that there are facts established against him, wholly Davia

irreconcilable with lis innocence, and which no one can L'.\'i}]t!fn but Pe .
himself, and that l|it:_\' are conclusive evidence of his }Illi” unless ex- llm-.:
plained by him : his counsel says, that, instead of perving his guilt 1 re- Borce
t]lliI’t]]Jilll to “prove his innocence. All the rl'it'L‘lll'!'lru[l:1lH'(’.-;nf- time, iil]l‘r"..
place, motive, means, opportunity and conduct, both belore and after ’ t||:1
the time Davis was killed, as establisbed by the testimony, concur in I'h o
pointing ont the nccused as the perpetrator of the murder. ° r :I”{iL
Pennington and Davis were seen leaving the muster eround togeth- L 1L1. . :

({'!'. going in the direction towardsthe csve—Davis went directly h: ‘e |l ‘:;_5
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at cave 3 that fact cannot be questioned ; for his dead body wuas found
the bere: But \'\.'lu—!r!.: did Pnnington gn.? ‘-‘:'h'urc': did he part with Davis,
T if he did not go with him to the cave? Whrt inducement had Davis to
T go to the cave, unless it was in the route to Pennington’s father’s, where b
'“”:, he promised Davts to pay him some money that night? Where wus
r.'“ Pennington from the time he left muster garund n the evening till hs
1CLY got to Mrs. McFadden’s two hours in the night? Because I contend that
LI.IL[I-I these k‘il'\'l:]l'li'-i'.lllt't‘!.‘é are concusive L‘:‘»'i‘_ll'l'li:l‘. of his guilt, unless ||:t‘\' are
- 20F accounted for, and that they are within his own knowledge, and shoul-

and could be explained by him if innocent., Mr. Buckner says that I red

guire bim to prove that he is not guilty. I contend, gentlemen, thay _~
: they prove he is guilty, and that he is able to countervail such proof, |/
il innocent, which he hasnot attempted to do.

Litth The case read by Mr. Buckner, of the young girl who was heard

Leh S, cry out **good uncledo not kill me''’ can have no applcation in the
M trial of any case in this country. - That case occurred many years ago 1n
b S England, and the law has been held to be different every since, in that
nim country, as well asin the United States, No mancan be condemed
B now npon such testimony. The law now requires that the dead ULody
ATk shall be found before the person accused can be convicted. In that case
\jr]"r'.' the body was. not found, in fact the girl was alive. If the body of Davis
’I""f’ had not been found, Pennington could not be convicted in this case. as
11T

he seems well to have known, by his not attempting to conceal himself
Wils Sor to escape, although suspected, when the circumstances were as strong

the M iinst him as they were afterwards.  Thbe other law that was read by
Yery Sthe gentleman, J view as abstract and metaphysical, and shall not con-
CL 4 S aime time in replying to it,
Heh Mr. Buckner asks what law.de I rely upon to convict a prisoner.
Wils 8 rely upon the law known to every man—I rely upon the law, that he =
who is ;:1:“[_\' of murder shall suffr death ; and, gentlemen, 1f you believe E
tary Wihe prisoner killed Davis, all you have to do, is write upon the indict- =
med Wnent that he is GuiLTy.
und The gentleman is mistaken in saying that no witness but Hender-
I'he :on proves that the prisoner and Davis were seen together at the muster
um- S (51issem states that he saw Pennington and Davis with two or three
”.5" other men going off together, when he called Pennington back : and
olly Davis is clearly © identified. as the man seen by Edwards  with
but Pennington in the sapling timber in the evening.
: BX- Mr. Buckuoer says that, Pennington was not seen with Davis’s
| re- Wliorse after he was murdered, and that it ought to be shown on behalf
NGy ot the prosecution what became of the horse. Can it be supposed for
'I"f'{' i moment, that Pennington shrewd and artful as he is. would be found
T an In [lnu,um-'_-;iun of the horse that Davis rode on his way home, to be the
indubitable evidence of his guilt. His most direct way home from the
eth- tave, itis proved’ was by Mrs. McFadden’s; und it is not shown that
~he Wb went there for any other purpose than to stay all night. It is noy
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proven that he transacted any business; it is not proven that he got the
oil of spike; it is not proven that he made any agreement with Mrs,
MecFadden about becoming her security as guardian for her childred: It
is not even proved that he got the word from Mrs. McFadden that she
wanted to see him on that business.; [t is proved by Cooper that he
told Causey to tell Pennington that Mrs MeFadden wanted to see him,
Causey is sworne with the other witnesses, but not examined, 1 there-
fore come to the conclusion that Causey never toled him that Mrs. Me.
Fadden wanted to see him. For what other purpose then conld he have
gone to Mrs. McFadden’s Dut that he was on his way home from the
cave, and a convenient place to stay all night? He lived in nearly a
direct opposite course from the muster ground, from that to Mrs. Me-
Fadden’s and had he gone directly there from the muster, he would
have gone frem toward home, but from the cave it was on hisroute
home to go by Mrs. McFaddens.

Mr. Buckner says, Pénnington was.a man of property, and that the

amount of moneyv that Divis had was too small an inducement for the

prisovier to have killed him for it. That argument is of no weight,
None but a man of wicked and depraved heart would kill another for
his money—and no inference can be drawn from the smallpess of the
sum that Davis probably had, in favor of the prisoner. Nosum, if he
had been an honest man, would have been a suflicient inducement for
him to have killed Davis. For no sum’ nor for worlds, wouid he have
harmed him, If it had been $75,000. instead of $75 or $150, that Da-
vis had, he should not have killed him, Who can tell what motive is
sufficient to induce a vicious and bad man to commit a crime? That
robbery was the motive for killing Davis is clearly eatablished. Ie had
money about his person, which his murderer got, and the property
whiclhrhe had left at home was taken possession of by Pennimgton, a few
days after his disappearance.. Pennington also had possession of his
papers; he had possession of two promisory notes, belonging to Davis,
one on Compton: and the other on Bradley, which he offered to fransfer
to Bell, alter death?’ Take all these facts, take all this long chain
of tastimony in which there is not one thingwanting ; take into consid-
eration his falsehoods about Davis, when he learned he was suspected
ot the murder; his cocduct and flight after the body was found, and the
mind 1s irresistibly and involuntarialy forced to the conclusion that heis
guilty,

Gentlemen, the law says (Strrkey, vol. 1. ) that ‘‘the ysual ennec

tion between the conduct of a eriminal agent and the supposition ofhis
guilt; are too obvious a nature to be dwelt upon '* and also **attempt
to divert the course of inquiry or prevent investigation as to the cause
of death, not unfrequently excite just cause of suspicion; above, all the
restless anxiety of a mind conscious of guilt very frequently prompls
the party to take measures for his security which evidently supply the
strongest evidence of his guilt.”’
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The numerous false and contradictory statements that he made
about Davis being at diffent places, after he was murdered, were mad-
to divert the course of inquiry, and to T‘“ vent investigation. Ilis con
scious guilt prompted him to tell these tulsehoods, to ward off suspicion
and to prevent seatch from being m.uh_ fo the dq;.ul body, Conscious
guilt mude him take measures for his security by escaping from the
gountry, when he keard the bodv was found. What motive could an
innocent man have by such conduct? It was the restless anxiety of 4
mind conscious of guilt, that induced him to take such measures, he
could only have allayed this lirtle black eloud of suspicion when i first
began to arrise—it he could have onlv pacified this littie storm in time,
lhe wouldhave been secure. Bat the clowd continued to increase and
ower in darkness—the storm broke forth when the dead body was
found, and he betook himself to flight for security. Guilt, cuirLT, CON-
scrous GUILT, was imprinted by his very i_r.'_)f)l_.-'\t'\,'}}'-; upon the earth
as hefled. The face of God's earth becomes !H}Hun!d h_\' such men, 1
have no resentment to indulge against Pennington—I have cause for
none—it is the laws of my country that I am trying to vindicate and
ustain, and I am as much convinced of his frl.:]'r...n,'. I am of the death
bof Davis. Mr. Bucknerin n sym Hl.u‘iil‘ manner,h: ~~~l~u:i{c of his wife,in
whsch I must cordially join him. 'Tis a pity !—I pity her!—I pity her
children ! .-—pL ty that any woman should be um{m‘. to so base a man.
but gentleman of the jury, sympatny should not control your verdict in
this case. Did Pennington have any symp .Ift\. for Simon Davis, when
he sent his soul into etern ]:\ and cost ]1|- i]“li"f into  that cave, whe he
|npul he would forever be hidden trom tne eye of man, alas vain hope,
murder will out. Never befare in our state bas a jury had-such an aw-
fu weight of re -p-m~1l:.il:*~, resting upon them.N The spot selected for
the nurﬂ: r of Davis only lends interest to the crime; murdered, as he

1 a lonely spot, at a time when honest men are at home with their
[,;1;]i1 »s : when the tired nation was sinking in her bed of rest, under the
cover of darkness.avhen murderes alwavs stalks abroad, then it was that
Pennington and his emisaries committed their wicked deed ; for which
if this jurs shnld acqut will haunt him through lite. Gentlemen, my
duty is done, yours yet lies before you, My earnest prayer is, that you
may be so ennobled as to discéarge that duty so fully that society may
have nothing to complain of at yons hands. Geutlemen the cose is
with you. ;

Afterer the churge of the judge to the jury they retired and in a short
time rerurned a verdict that Pennington was -smll\' of the murder of Da-
vis, and fixed his punishmentat *‘deathr”

He was hung near I[np kinsville, now in the city, in May. 1311’:
One of the post oak trees is still'standing upon which an end of the beam
rested, rnd to which he was hung, He walked upon the scaffold. Mil-
ton Clark who died only a few years ago tied the knot and sprang the
trap that launched the soul of Pennington into the presence of the God

who gave it. \r—-« . THE END
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